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Our strategy is based on:  
creating and nurturing world class brands 
which inspire the trust and loyalty of 
consumers; championing customer 
relationships  and building meaningful 
partnerships; engaging talent and 
empowering employees to deliver 
sustainable and quality driven 
operations; connecting with the 
community and embracing 
our social and environmental  
responsibilities; providing a 
fair return to shareholders 
to ensure long-term 
investment and 
profitable growth.

Thus, we shall accomplish 
our vision of growing 
our local and 
international business 
to establish the 
Farsons Group as 
a regional player 
within the food 
and beverage 
sector.



Rewarding Shareholders

Championing Relationships

Embracing Responsibilities

Empowering Employees

Nurturing Brands
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GearinG Up For Greater export 
Growth 

Our newly built ¤27 Million state-of the art Beer Packaging  

Facility is now complete, enabling Farsons to produce and pack 

beer and soft drinks in exportable packages, at competitive prices. 

This investment will enable the Group to embark on its vision of 

establishing itself as a regional player within the beverage sector, 

in line with our stated Mission.

The Beer Packaging Facility investment consists of three floors:  

a packaging hall and two floors of packaging materials stores on a 

footprint of 4,500m2. The packaging hall houses three packaging 

lines for returnable and non-returnable glass bottles at a speed of 

30,000 bottles per hour and a canning line at a speed of 40,000 

cans per hour. The plant is supplied by the best of German and 

American suppliers and reflects the latest technology ensuring the 

highest quality, productivity and efficiency. The packaging hall has 

also been designed to offer the best European standards in working 

environment and health and safety standards. The two floors of 

stores can house about 4,000 pallets each and they are conveyed 

to the packaging lines by means of an automated vertical pallet 

conveyor to minimise pallet handling.

inveStinG in 
the FUtUre
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“This invesTmenT 
will enAble 
The GRoup To 
Accomplish 
iTs vision of 
esTAblishinG 
iTself As A 
ReGionAl 
plAyeR 
wiThin The 
beveRAGe 
secToR.”
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onCe aGain, it iS my privileGe to 
report to yoU on another Solid and 
proFitable perFormanCe. For the 
year ended 31 JanUary 2016, GroUp 
tUrnover reaChed ¤84.9 million, 
repreSentinG a robUSt inCreaSe 
oF 7.2% over the previoUS year and 
proFit beFore tax From ContinUinG 
operationS amoUntinG to ¤10.1 
million, Compared to ¤8.2 million in 
the previoUS year, repreSentinG an 
impreSSive inCreaSe oF 22.8%.

Profit after taxation and discontinued operations amounted to ¤11.2 

million, compared to ¤8 million in the previous year, an increase of 40%. 

Last year our results from discontinued operations were materially 

impacted by a substantial impairment charge in the value attributable to 

the land on which the brewery façade lies, and a favourable recognition 

of tax credits, the utilisation of which have become more readily 

available because of the improved profit performance of the Group. 

This year the deferred tax portion was positively affected by changes in 

tax rules relating to immovable property.

The main reasons for the improved trading performance of the different 

business segments are ably covered by our Group Chief Executive, 

Norman Aquilina, in his statement in this report. Our performance has 

been most encouraging across the business units. The local economy 

has performed well, spurred on by record tourist arrivals. Malta’s GDP 

growth reached a high 6.3% in 2015 and a record number of persons are 

in local employment, with an increasing level of foreign citizens boosting 

Chairman’S 
Statement

Malta’s labour pool. All these factors are helping to drive increased 

consumer demand for our products.

We have seen strong demand for our products in this vibrant economic 

environment, and this annual report features a number of new beers 

that we are currently launching on both the local and export markets. 

We are aligning our products with new consumer preferences and our 

current relaunch of Farsons Classic Ales responding to the increase in 

worldwide interest in craft beers. 

I wish to emphasise that the Group’s increased market success is also 

largely due to the significant investments that your Board has made 

in recent years, both in our operational assets and in the marketing 

strategies of our own brands and the brands that we represent. Our cost 

of sales is continually under close scrutiny, and the large investments 

we have undertaken have enabled us to become far more efficient, 

productive and creative in our packaging choices. 

As we publish this annual report, we are currently commissioning 

the new ¤27 million beer packaging facility, an investment which we 

initiated in April 2014 and which we stated would be completed by April 

2016. I am pleased to confirm that we have completed this complex 

project on time and on budget and, although it is very early days to 

confirm that we are reaching the specified production outputs, this new 

facility will undoubtedly improve our production capacity and flexibility, 

particularly in the number of different export packages that we offer 

our export clients. This investment closely follows the ¤12.5 million 

investment in the new Brewhouse which we completed in 2012. We can 

now state that we have replaced most of our critical operational assets, 

and that we are well placed to benefit from these investments for many 

years to come.
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Further important investments that we have just embarked upon 

include the extension to our Logistics Centre and the enlargement of 

our administration block through the planned addition of two extra 

floors of offices – both projects due for completion over the summer of 

2017. The Logistics Centre project will facilitate our important storage 

and distribution functions, whilst the office extension will enable us to 

co-locate all executive, marketing, finance and administration staff, thus 

enabling us to vacate the main brewery building, paving the way for the 

Farsons Business Park project referred to below. 

We are now just over a year or so away from our joint decision to go 

ahead with the intended spin-off of our non-operational property 

assets into a newly listed public limited company (plc). Much work is 

underway in preparation for this important and complex transaction. 

I believe that it is appropriate for me to remind you all of the main 

reasons why we have proposed this course of action. Firstly, we believe 

that the proposed plan of rehabilitating and converting the old brewery 

building into an office business park with an accompanying car park, 

visitors centre (which will exhibit the Farsons Story), as well as food 

and beverage outlets to service the employees in the Mriehel area, is a 

feasible investment which can benefit and enhance shareholder value.

Secondly, the Farsons Group owns substantial property assets which 

are not an integral part of our beverage and food operations, and 

which, in the opinion of your Board, have the potential to provide a far 

better return to shareholders if such assets were to be governed by a 

focused board of directors and managed by a dedicated management 

team with the right skills and time to manage the new business. In this 

annual report we have set out a list of the properties that are scheduled 

to be transferred to the new plc, and also provide details of the design 

features of the Farsons Business Park, as well as information relating to 

the main aspects of the investment being proposed.

Before finally taking and implementing the all-important decision, you 

can rest assured that your Board will convene a shareholders’ meeting 

to discuss the whole project. We shall ensure that adequate time will be 

allocated to enable you to consider all aspects of the proposals before 

any final decision is taken. Shareholders will also be able to follow 

progress relating to the project through the company announcements 

on to this matter that are issued from time to time.

deClared dividendS over 
the paSt Five yearS

In view of the increased profits for the year, and the improvement in 

EBITDA to ¤19 million, your Board is recommending a final dividend of 

¤2.2 million. If approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual 

General Meeting, this will result in a total dividend payment for the 

financial year under review of ¤3.2 million, as compared to ¤3 million for 

the previous year. 

I wish to sincerely thank all Farsons Group employees for their 

continued commitment, and for their positive and enthusiastic response 

to the considerably increased workload that we are all facing in the 

light of the pace of change that is occurring in the market place and 

the implementation of the heavy capital investment we have embarked 

upon over recent years. Without their dedication our results would not 

have been possible.

Also, once again our thanks and gratitude due to our legal advisors 

Mamo TCV and our auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers for their 

continued valid and learned advice.

louis a. Farrugia Chairman 

12 May 2016

• PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

• DIVIDENDS (INTERIM + FINAL)
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GroUp ChieF 
exeCUtive’S review

the FarSonS GroUp haS, onCe aGain, 
delivered a very enCoUraGinG 
perFormanCe, with improved  
year-on-year reSUltS. the FaCt  
that we were able to maintain SUCh  
a ConSiStent momentUm over the  
paSt yearS, deSpite FierCe and  
ever-preSent Competition, Certainly 
GiveS Credibility to oUr StrateGieS. 
it alSo demonStrateS oUr GroUp’S 
reSilienCe and oUr ability to 
reSpond eFFeCtively to evolvinG, 
and inCreaSinGly Complex, market 
dynamiCS. 

Group turnover reached ¤84.9 million, an increase of 7.2% over the 

previous year, whereas profit before tax from continuing operations 

increased by 22.8% to ¤10.1 million. Our EBITDA amounted to ¤18.7 

million, an increase of ¤1.5 million over last year. It is certainly most 

satisfying to be able to report such results for this past year. More 

importantly though, these results motivate us to look ahead and 

pursue our ambitions for even further growth.

Such growth, as we have noted before, can only stem from a twin 

strategy of innovation and exports. In both areas, we have made very 

significant strides forward. We have focused on upgrading the brand 

imagery and packaging of our beer portfolio, now launching new 

products such as Cisk Pilsner and the newly re-launched but classic 

Farsons branded ales. 

bRoAd-RAnGinG 
invesTmenTs, 

GAme-chAnGinG 
iniTiATives

enGaGinG talent & empowerinG 
employeeS to deliver

Throughout the group, management is committed to engaging 

talent and empowering employees to deliver sustainable and quality 

operations. We focus not only on attracting and recruiting employees 

who can help us achieve our ambitious targets, but also on motivating 

and retaining our current employees. Across the group, various 

initiatives have been introduced to motivate employees and enhance 

their performance, including ongoing training and development 

programmes which are both directed at improving skills.

With broad ranging investments and game-changing initiatives, 

we have worked hard towards establishing a stronger performance 

management culture. We have organised engagement workshops 

where employees had the opportunity to discuss the Group’s vision 

and objectives; there are ongoing efforts to enhance and align 

processes to continue to drive our results-oriented approach  

through working smarter and optimising the use of technology 

wherever possible.

operational hiGhliGhtS

Our new Beer Packaging Facility has, of course, been a major area 

of focus. Since the start of the financial year, construction works 

were continuous. The large underground rain water reservoir was 

also roofed over. The ground floor houses the three packaging lines. 

Before the actual plant was delivered towards the end of September, 

the ground floor was prepared with process drains, internal plastering 
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key GroUp perFormanCe hiGhliGhtS 
From ContinUinG operationS
aCtUal vS laSt year vS Five year ComparativeS 

FY Jan 2016 
¤’000

Improvement 
vs FY Jan 2015

Improvement 
vs FY Jan 2012*

Turnover ¤84,918 7% 20%

Operating Profit ¤11,475 18% 83%

Pre-tax Profit ¤10,112 23% 103%

Post-tax Profit ¤10,981 -18%** 138%

EBITDA ¤18,680 9% 63%

Earnings per 
Ordinary share ¤0.366 -18% 133%

Return on Average 
Capital Employed 8.8% 1pp 3.4pp

Gearing 18.22% 1.74pp -9pp

GroUp proFitability beFore tax From 
ContinUinG operationS

GroUp ebitda

GroUp tUrnover

*Restated to exclude the property segment.
**Tax income for FY 2016 amounts to ¤869,000 compared to ¤5,222,000 in FY 2015.

and painting, ventilation system, LED high bay lighting, fire alarm 

installation and employee facilities. Special ceramic hexagonal tiles 

were laid by a specialist contractor to guarantee hygienic conditions. 

The bottling hall was also equipped with 3,000 acoustic baffles, fixed 

to the ceiling, to minimise noise reverberations from the hard concrete 

surfaces and ceiling. The first and second floors serve as packaging 

materials stores. These have been designed to maximise the storage 

capacity of all the packaging materials we currently use, the bulkiest of 

which are cans. The height of the stores was in fact determined by the 

height of three can pallets on top of each other. The stores have been 

fitted with an inbuilt fire-fighting installation, a vertical pallet conveyor 

to take packaging materials pallets automatically to the packaging 

lines and a four pallet lift leading to the second floor. 

The extensive bottling and canning machinery, which arrived in no 

less than ninety different containers from both Europe and the United 

States, has now been successfully installed and commissioned. Our 

efforts to drive efficiency and above all, product quality, are unceasing, 

as reflected in a number of initiatives throughout our operation. 

Our PET soft drink filler, which has served us well for a number 

of years, has been replaced by one using the latest volumetric 

computer-controlled precision technology which ensures careful 

filling of carbonated and still beverages in PET bottles. The new filler, 

commissioned in March 2015, has been successfully operating for 

over a year and now helps us to deliver not only enhanced product 

standards, but also reduced wastage and improved productivity. These 

results motivate us to look ahead and pursue our ambitions for even 

further growth. On the other hand, the commissioning of our new Beer 

Packaging Facility marks a quantum leap that enables us to implement 

a broader export strategy. 

We envisage that the benefits from this ¤27 million investment will 

start to be realised within the new financial year. Throughout the 

past year we were fully focused to ensure that this beer packaging 

investment was implemented according to set plans. Here, recognition 

is due to all the project team, ably led by our Chief Operations Officer 

Ing. Ray Sciberras. 

Technological developments have also enabled us to change the caps 

used to close PET bottles. The caps are now lighter and smaller, and 

are less costly. The new smaller caps also require a smaller thread 

on the bottle leading to more efficient production. These changes 

necessitated an investment in line components, carried out in 

December 2015. 

“These ResulTs 
moTivATe us To looK 
AheAd And puRsue 
ouR AmbiTions 
foR even fuRTheR 
GRowTh.”
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The extension of our office block through the construction of two 

additional office floors and the extension to our Logistics Centre 

has meant that we had to relocate twelve large water tanks. This 

operation entailed the construction of a concrete platform able 

to sustain the 1,800 Tonne weight as well as lifting, carrying and 

lowering these 4m diameter by 25m high tanks into place. The whole 

project involved the complete renewal of our piping and pumping 

network, to enable us to treat and store the four different qualities 

of water which are used in our various production processes. In line 

with the Group’s objectives of increasing its exports, the Logistics 

Department has embarked on two major projects. 

One is the construction of an extension to the warehouse at the rear 

of the Logistics Centre to increase storage capacity. Excavations 

have started in January and construction will be completed by July 

2017. The new extension will also be directly linked to the packaging 

hall by means of a conveyor and a semi-automated racking system 

will be installed to efficiently maximise storage. 

The second project which was completed in April is the replacement 

of the racking in the picking area with a new system that fully utilises 

the height of the warehouse to increase storage capacity, improve 

order picking and also reduce forklift movements in this area. 

These projects will ensure that Farsons’ Logistics Department will 

meet future growth in the most efficient and effective way whilst 

containing cost, improving health and safety and maintaining a high 

level of quality. 

We have maintained our commitment towards 

quality management by strengthening our 

Quality Management team and ensuring good 

results from ongoing audits arising from our 

ISO 9001-2008 certification. Furthermore, we 

are proud of having maintained our Grade A status within our BRC 

certification. We also undergo audits by Pepsico, Carlsberg and AB 

In-Bev’s Budweiser.

Our Group has therefore undertaken broad-ranging and strategically 

important investments which will now enable us to sustain our 

growth in the long term. Undaunted by the scale of challenges 

ahead, we are also embarking on a number of important initiatives  

to ensure that we continue to deliver, both in our domestic market,  

as evidenced across all operating units and subsidiaries, as well  

as internationally, as we continue to innovate and develop our  

beer brands. 

Current investments within the Logistics Centre will increase 
our warehousing capacity by over 40% – this means we will 
have the largest logistics centre of this type in Malta.

Energy efficiency, responsible water management and the recovery of 
most of our packaging waste placed on the market remain important 
corporate objectives.

“ouR effoRTs To 
dRive efficiency 
And Above All, 
pRoducT quAliTy, 
ARe unceAsinG, 
As ReflecTed 
in A numbeR 
of iniTiATives 
ThRouGhouT 
ouR opeRATion.”
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Cisk Pilsner is a premium pilsner 
combining a tradition of brewing 
excellence and passion with the 

finest quality Pilsen malt and Noble 
hops of the Saaz variety. Cool, crisp 
and immensely satisfying, and with 

an alcohol content of 5.5%,  
Cisk Pilsner offers the discerning 

beer connoisseur a remarkably crisp 
and well-hopped flavour with a rich 
white head, a delicate bitterness and 
a superior aroma originating from 
the rich essential oils present in  

the Noble hops.
 

A true Pilsner of exceptional quality.

INTRODUCING CIsk PIlsNeR. 

a leGeND TO be savOUReD by 

ThOse whO seek The besT.

The 
evOlUTION 

OF a 
leGeND
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market trendS and developmentS 
– an overview

Many of the factors which shaped the beverage market in 2014 

persisted well into 2015, the year under review, with perhaps 

more intensity. The economic and political uncertainty within the 

Mediterranean and North African region also had some influence on 

the local scenario. More specifically, the tourism industry in Malta once 

again posted record numbers throughout the year, and this in turn had 

a positive effect on many segments including the beverage market. 

Weather conditions also played their part, and the hotter summer 

months more than offset the average cooler temperatures recorded in 

the winter months. 

The so called Millennials, consumers aged between 20 and 35, are 

a key target group for many brands in Farsons’ beverage portfolio, 

and are shaping the way many fast moving consumer goods brands 

are being marketed and traded. Relatively more affluent than their 

predecessors, this generation comprises citizens of the Internet age. 

They seek brands which display authenticity, sustainability and values 

which they can align with. Paradoxically, whilst extremely brand aware, 

they are also ready to accept private label and discount products. 

Consumers in Malta display similar traits, and there is also an 

increasing focus on wider health issues. It is in the context of this 

evolving and complex market reality that we realign our own product 

portfolio. A faster paced lifestyle lived more ‘on the go’ is also causing 

shifts in shopping trends, with a significant increase 

in demand for value added at all times and smaller, 

but more frequent, shopping baskets. The trade is 

likewise responding to these changing consumer 

trends and habits in order to remain competitive and 

relevant in the market place. This evolution in the 

market demands that we not only remain vigilant and 

informed, but more importantly ahead of the curve 

and quick to adapt to the changing beer market. 

“A fAsTeR pAced 
lifesTyle lived moRe 
‘on The Go’ is Also 
cAusinG shifTs in 
shoppinG TRends, 
wiTh A siGnificAnT 
incReAse in demAnd 
foR vAlue Added 
AT All Times And 
smAlleR, buT moRe 
fRequenT, shoppinG 
bAsKeTs.”

Our Cisk Specials – Cisk Strong, 
Cisk Export and Cisk Pilsner – looking 

great and poised for internationalisation

11 Annual Report 2015/16



the beer market

After a period of flat sales in many developed markets, including Malta, 

the beer sector is now exhibiting some growth, and developments 

are taking place as the industry responds to consumer needs and 

wants. The interest in craft beers continues, spurring a host of market 

innovation and consumers are truly curious and want to know the 

stories behind the brand. Successful brands tend to be authentic and 

‘local’, with their own story to tell. Craft beers punch well above their 

weight in terms of volume and value and are therefore an attractive 

market development for both brand owners and the trade. This 

development is therefore welcome news in many markets, driving 

growth in otherwise stagnant conditions with many traditional 

mainstream brands in decline. 

role in the development of the domestic beer market. The launch of 

a custom designed draught column, during the annual Farsons Beer 

Festival, marked a key moment in the year’s calendar of events and  

was very well received by both consumers and the trade alike. 

Cisk Excel, launched in 2007, remains Malta’s only low-carbohydrate 

beer, and continues to exceed expectations and deliver growth year  

on year. This award-winning Cisk variant seems to have found favour 

with those beer consumers who appreciate the combination of a  

high-quality, great tasting and refreshing lager together with the 

‘better for you’ attributes of the lower level of carbohydrates. The 

growing availability of Cisk Excel on draught has given it an added 

dimension and further strengthens this key brand. 

These are all welcome developments for Farsons. Not only are we 

highly respected brewers with a unique tradition and heritage, but 

we now possess state-of-the-art brewing capabilities complemented 

by a brand new Beer Packaging Facility which enable us to compete 

internationally in a more competitive and strategic manner. 

Cisk Lager, the flagship brand in our beer portfolio, once again 

posted positive results across all market segments and maintained its 

leadership position despite a fiercely competitive environment. Sporting 

a newly refined brand identity and backed by a full programme of 

marketing campaigns and innovative promotions, music and sports 

sponsorships, events and initiatives, this strategic brand played a key 

Innovation continues to play an important role in the overall strategy 

within the beer portfolio. Cisk Chill, a flavoured lager beer, was 

originally launched in 2012 with a lemon flavour, with its distinct clear 

bottle giving it a cool and refreshing unique identity. This innovative 

variant continues to be very well received by consumers who 

appreciate its fruity flavour which offers a twist on the more traditional 

beer taste. Cisk Chill is now available in lemon and berry flavour, in 

both glass bottles and also sleek cans, and its annual launch ahead  

of the peak summer weeks is a highly anticipated event by both  

trade and consumers. 
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“we ARe hiGhly RespecTed 
bReweRs wiTh A unique 
TRAdiTion And heRiTAGe And 
possess sTATe-of-The-ART 
bRewinG cApAbiliTies.”
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review oF bUSineSS SeCtorS: beerS 

Apart from our own portfolio of iconic Maltese beer brands, 

Farsons also represents global beers including Carlsberg, a 

truly global brand brewed by Farsons under license for well 

over 30 years. Positioned as ‘Probably The Best Beer in the 

World’, and recently taking on the sponsorship of the English 

Premier League, Carlsberg plays a significant and strategic 

role in the beer portfolio and is particularly sought after by 

tourists. Furthermore, it is now prestigiously positioned as 

the Official Beer of the UEFA EURO 2016 competition, with a 

number of high visibility promotions and events planned as the 

competition enters the final phase in June 2016.

Another key brand in our beer portfolio is Skol, also brewed 

by Farsons in collaboration with Carlsberg International. 

Successfully playing at the highly competitive and crowded 

value end of the price range, Skol has become a major player 

on the local beer market offering beer consumers a high quality 

lager at excellent value for money. 

Carlsberg gears up for its “biggest ever” season of football sponsorship ahead of the Premier League 
and Euro 2016 championship, ramping up its football focused advertising strategy to ensure the brand 
is seen as the only beer of choice for fans of the sport.

The Farsons Beer Festival continues to be a major annual calendar event. 
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“The yeAR undeR 
Review wAs 
one of fuRTheR 
consolidATion 
And pRepARATion, 
As consideRAble 
ResouRces weRe 
invesTed in 
foRmulATinG how 
besT To conTinue To 
dRive ouR eXpoRT 
sTRATeGy GoinG 
foRwARd”. 

The company’s export sales performance for the year was 

encouraging, and almost at par with that of the previous year, despite 

the uncertainty and ensuing challenges faced in some important 

markets, particularly those in North Africa. That said, a number of  

new export markets in West Africa and South East Asia were 

successfully penetrated for the first time, and these may serve  

as a basis for future growth. 

Positive sales momentum was also experienced in Italy, where the 

company’s beer exports achieved double digit growth as Farsons’ 

brand building initiatives in this market produce encouraging results. 

Our combined exports to other established markets in Europe, Asia 

and Australia continue to hold their own. In line with our long-term 

strategy, further growth is envisaged once our new Beer Packaging 

Facility is fully operational. 

In many respects, the year under review was one of further 

consolidation and preparation, as considerable resources were 

invested in formulating how best to continue to drive our export 

strategy going forward. This entails new product development  

and the creation of new brands which are being specifically developed  

for export markets. 

Italian consumers respond positively to the Cisk range at the Vinitaly Fair Farsons stand during Golositalia, Italy

Farsons stand during SIAL Shanghai, China
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oUr ranGe oF ClaSSiC, CraFted,  
aleS open an exCitinG new Chapter.

As the craft beer revolution takes root in many markets, this 

movement is also aiding the revival of the more traditional ale 

segment, previously in decline for a number of years. Blue Label, 

one of the first brands in the Farsons’ beer portfolio, is leading this 

revival on the local market and experiencing an increase in demand, 

appealing in particular to the more discerning beer consumers who 

seek out its smooth and distinctive taste and character. 

FarSonS ClaSSiC brewS 
inSpired by tradition,
brewed with paSSion 
SinCe 1928

Whilst it is important to have the latest technology and facilities, this 

is only part of the story – brewing skills, expertise and passion are the 

heart of Farsons’ brewing heritage. This is a tradition which also has a 

great future, as the range of Farsons Classic Brews shows. Our range 

of carefully crafted beers meets the increasing interest in speciality 

brews and offers new generations of consumers the opportunity to 

experience tradition at its very best. 
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“ouR RAnGe of cARefully 
cRAfTed beeRs meeTs The 
incReAsinG inTeResT in 
speciAliTy bRews And 
offeRs new GeneRATions of 
consumeRs The oppoRTuniTy 
To eXpeRience TRAdiTion  
AT iTs veRy besT.” 
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Taste More
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SoFt drinkS

Following full market liberalization in 2008, the local soft drinks market 

continues to face unprecedented challenges. Going forward, it is very 

clear that the rapidly evolving external environment will impact our 

business in one way or another. Changing demographics, value seeking 

consumers, evolving but disruptive technologies, an increasing focus 

on health and wellness, the changing retail landscape and the looming 

eventuality of more public policy and legislative measures, which do 

not exclude a ‘sugar tax’ as we have just seen being introduced in the 

UK, demand that we continue to evolve our non-alcoholic portfolio to 

ensure it remains relevant to consumers. 

Notwithstanding these external pressures and influences, it is 

reassuring to note the positive results registered in this highly 

competitive market segment. Backed by a strong and effective 

calendar of innovative campaigns and consumer promotions, Kinnie, 

our flagship soft drinks brand, continues to stay ahead of the curve, 

increasing volumes year on year. The introduction of the mid-calorie 

variant Kinnie Vita in a 50cl bottle in 2014 was further complemented 

through the launch of the ever-popular ‘family-sized’ 1.5 Litre bottle 

in 2015. Kinnie Vita offers the more discerning health-conscious 

consumers the option to enjoy the great unique taste of Malta’s 

favourite soft drink with only half the sugar content and calories when 

compared to a regular soft drink. ‘Choose Your Kinnie’ was one of the 

key campaigns which ran throughout most of the year under review. 

This campaign served to highlight the full range of the Kinnie variants 

available to consumers, offering choice and diversity depending on 

their preferences and requirements.

The Face of Diet Kinnie saw over 200 hopefuls apply to win the 
2016 title. Nicole Ebejer, Face of Diet Kinnie 2016, featured in 
Diet Kinnie’s “I am Taste” campaign.

“Kinnie, ouR flAGship 
sofT dRinK bRAnd, 
conTinues To 
incReAse volumes 
yeAR on yeAR.”

Kinnie, a Maltese success story that has always supported local talent, 
sponsors Red Electrick's third album – Inside You.
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The PepsiCo portfolio, consisting of Pepsi-Cola, 7-Up and Mirinda, 

also posted a good set of results, despite the aggressive and price- 

based competitive environment. As younger consumers spend more 

and more time online, it is only natural that digital campaigns and 

initiatives feature more regularly in our campaign calendars. In fact, 

the ‘Pepsi Challenge’, an initiative which ran on social media channels, 

successfully engaged with consumers in an innovative way and further 

reinforced the strong bond with younger consumers. 

2015 was a very busy year for the lemon-lime brand 7-Up. A new 

brand look, borrowing strongly from the well-known vintage graphics 

of some years ago, was introduced ahead of the summer season, 

giving the brand a cleaner and bolder image. In line 

with global developments and consumer 

response, Diet 7-Up was rebranded and 

is now present on the market as 7-Up 

FREE, emphasizing that this variant is 

free from sugar, free from calories and 

free from colour. Finally, as we continue 

to better understand consumers’ 

purchasing habits and preferences, 

the introduction of ‘on-label’ pricing 

on 7-Up 1.5 Litre bottles, served to 

ensure that our consumers continue 

to be well-served and informed at the 

point-of sale. 

San Michel launches a new website, designed with 
a fresh new look and user-friendly navigation and 
updated with the latest information about the whole 
San Michel portfolio.

As the consumer becomes less brand loyal, the trade more demanding 

and the possibility of legislative measures aimed at curbing the 

consumption of sugar-based drinks more likely, it is imperative that we 

remain nimble and informed. 

Innovation remains one of the strategic pillars of growth for the Group. 

Going forward we will continue to focus on understanding consumer 

affordability, understanding promotional effectiveness, understanding 

the different shopper missions, and more importantly creating  

and developing brands which are in line with our consumers’  

needs and wants.

“innovATion RemAins 
one of The sTRATeGic 
pillARs of GRowTh 
foR The GRoup.”

7Up remains a favourite with Maltese 
soft drink consumers.
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FarSonS beveraGe importS Company 
(FbiC)

This has been a positive year for FBIC. Sales growth was registered 

throughout the portfolio of imported beverages as a result of a 

number of marketing and sales activities targeting different  

market segments. 

Within our portfolio of imported beers, Corona performed particularly 

well, profiting from a strong programme of marketing and  

promotional activities. 

Budweiser also plays a key role in the Company’s beer portfolio. 

Truly global, and bottled by Farsons under licence from the leading 

global brewer AB-InBev, Budweiser remains one of the most globally 

recognized brands on the Maltese market. 

Guinness also maintained a steady growth, promoted by the  

St Patrick’s Day events which have become a major attraction to 

people in Valletta, St Julians and other localities. We have also 

increased our selection of craft beers. 

We also strengthened our ciders portfolio by introducing new 

flavoured variants of Bulmers, which continued to drive the growth of 

this brand. Strongbow maintained its position as the leading brand in 

the ciders sector. 

Our wine sales saw a positive increase too. A restructuring within our 

wines management team gave us more focus on the market while 

consolidating our back-office tasks. We added to our portfolio some 

highly-rated Italian wines from the Piemonte and Veneto – Elio Altare, 

Luciano Sandrone, Aldo Conterno and Giuseppe Quintarelli – which 

have been very well received by our discerning customers. 

In the spirits sector, sales increases were achieved through organic 

growth as well as the introduction of new products. As from January 

2015, Gruppo Campari entrusted FBIC with the representation of 

Frangelico and a marketing programme has been developed for this 

brand. In the whisky segment, we significantly increased our offering 

in order to satisfy more discerning clients. Both Famous Grouse and 

Ballantine’s saw new introductions whilst we also continued to extend 

the range of The Macallan, The Glenlivet, The Dalmore and Isle of Jura, 

which have become leading brands amongst lovers of special whiskies. 

With Chivas Regal, we launched the new expression of the whisky, 

Chivas Extra, as well as promoted its latest limited edition tin, tied to 

the luxury Globetrotter range of luggage. Jameson’s continued to 

consolidate its leading position within the Irish Whiskey category.

Farsonsdirect continues to attract a growing 
number of both private and trade customers.
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Aperol continued to grow at a strong rate, with Aperol Spritz 

becoming the most popular aperitivo in many outlets. The limited 

edition Absolut Electrik bottle was the highlight of the marketing 

programme behind this iconic brand which strengthened its position 

as the leading premium vodka on the market. The ‘après-sea’ 

programme we developed for Jagermeister was extended, leading 

to increased sales and popularity for this cult product. Havana Club 

continued to grow its market share in the rum sector, while Cointreau 

benefitted very well from a new campaign focused on the core 

Cointreau Fizz cocktails.

“sAles GRowTh 
wAs ReGisTeRed 
ThRouGhouT The 
poRTfolio of 
impoRTed beveRAGes 
As A ResulT of 
A numbeR of 
mARKeTinG And 
sAles AcTiviTies.”

Budweiser – The official Beer of Beers and also a key 
player in our beer portfolio.

A global brand that gives wings to FBIC's portfolio.
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Our programme of wine-tasting events, both in 

restaurants and specialised retail outlets, was very 

successful, with many events being sold out within 

days. We also ran regular promotions in the major 

supermarkets which led to increased awareness and sales 

of our wine brands. Looking ahead, our key priority remains 

the increased availability on the Maltese market of the brands 

in our portfolio through the successful implementation of 

integrated sales and marketing programmes.

FarSonSdireCt

Farsonsdirect has also had a good year. Sales have increased and we 

have continued to attract a growing number of both private clients 

and trade customers. Increased shelving within the wine shop has 

allowed for a better display of wines, leading to an improved shopping 

experience. The shop façade was given a much needed face-lift and 

now reflects the improvements which have been carried out internally. 

We have increased our digital presence through our social media 

page and we have seen a growth in on-line sales through our website. 

Some works currently being undertaken will extend our warehousing 

capacity and allow for better presentation of shelving in the outlet.
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“ouR Key pRioRiTy RemAins The 
incReAsed AvAilAbiliTy on The 
mAlTese mARKeT of The bRAnds 
in ouR poRTfolio ThRouGh The 
successful implemenTATion 
of inTeGRATed sAles And 
mARKeTinG pRoGRAmmes.”

Various events organised throughout 
the year included the launch of Chivas 
Regal Extra at Electro Lobster project, 
Jameson Irish Whisky at the St Patrick’s 
Day celebration, the Aperol Spritz Summer 
Social and Campari at the Pink Fashion Show. 
These proved to be extremely successful in 
connecting with target consumers whilst 
providing great entertainment to all.

Campari hits the streets with a mobile 
bar unit, during Negroni week.
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QUintano FoodS

In the food retailing business, competition continues to intensify,  

yet, nonetheless, Quintano Foods managed to achieve modest growth 

in its turnover even if contribution from a number of brands remained 

under pressure. 

During the course of the year, efforts have been made to ensure that 

Quintano’s brands would be made available in more retail stores 

especially those with growth potential. Throughout the year a number 

of marketing programmes aimed at ensuring greater visibility for the 

brands we represent were undertaken. 

Further investment was also made in the warehousing and distribution 

department, where a number of changes in the management 

structure were made. Towards the end of the year, we secured the 

distributorship of the Star brand – an iconic brand within the Italian 

food business. This is a strategic brand which we have every intention 

to build. In the dairy and yogurt segment, ongoing efforts remain in 

place to continue to support our flagship brand Danone along with 

other dairy brands. The Greek yogurt range under the Mevgal brand 

name continues to register strong growth. 

The snacks segment which 

includes brands like Walkers, 

Doritos, Snack A Jack, Popz and Acti-Snack, 

delivered double digit growth mainly driven by increased 

marketing initiatives and increased distribution efforts. 

Given the potential of our business, some major changes 

within the management structure have taken 

place. Both our food companies, 

Quintano Foods and Food Chain have 

been placed under the responsibility 

of a Group Head of Food Business, 

John Bonello Ghio, formerly our 

General Manager at Foodchain. 

This has already started to give 

added focus and improved 

synergies within our food business.

A new addition to the Quintano Food brand portfolio.
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“Given The poTenTiAl of ouR business, 
some mAjoR chAnGes wiThin The 
mAnAGemenT sTRucTuRe hAve TAKen 
plAce, This hAs AlReAdy sTARTed 
To Give Added focus And impRoved 
syneRGies wiThin ouR food business.”
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Food Chain 

Food Chain has continued with its expansion programme, with the 

opening of a new Burger King restaurant and the first KFC Drive Thru 

at the PAMA Shopping Village in Mosta, bringing our total restaurant 

count to fourteen. 

Performance of all three franchise brands represented by Food Chain 

registered a significant improvement in performance over the previous 

year, with increases registered in both turnover and profitability.

“food chAin hAs 
conTinued wiTh iTs 
eXpAnsion pRoGRAmme, 
bRinGinG ouR ToTAl 
ResTAuRAnT counT  
To fouRTeen.”
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pizza hUt 

Pizza Hut has continued to register same-store- 

sales growth, particularly driven by the delivery 

segment of the business where we have continued 

to invest in expanding the size of the delivery fleet to 

further improve our service levels and further reduce 

waiting times. During the year we embarked on a 

refurbishing programme of our dine-in restaurants. This remodelling 

was launched with the Sliema restaurant. This new contemporary 

streamlined and elegant design gives the restaurant a fresh modern 

look. The American rooted concept, blends European modernity with 

a touch of Italian pizzeria flair, offering diners the comfortable, casual 

dining experience synonymous with Pizza Hut. The restaurant’s façade 

has also been refreshed, with Pizza Hut’s iconic red candied roof now 

standing proudly in Bisazza Street.

We organised a number of promotions aimed at providing clients 

with value when visiting our restaurants. We also launched a number 

of new innovative products on a limited time offer which increased 

consumer interest in the brand and further stimulated demand.

bUrGer kinG

Following the successful opening of the Drive Thru 

in Qormi in the previous financial year, the year 

under review was equally exciting, with the opening 

of our sixth restaurant. This is located on a busy 

thoroughfare leading to Mosta, within the PAMA 

Shopping Village. Styled in line with the ‘20/20 

Light’ concept from Burger King, this restaurant offers guests a relaxed 

dining environment in a contemporary setting. It also has a children’s 

play area and a designated area for children’s parties. 

This year has been another milestone one for the brand, which has 

seen a marked increase in sales and market share following the 

opening of the high volume Qormi and Mosta restaurants. We have 

launched several initiatives throughout the year and embarked on a 

number of promotional campaigns which strengthen our presence  

on the market.

kFC 

KFC has also had a positive year with substantial 

increases in both our Gzira and MIA outlets.

Furthermore, towards the end of the financial year, we 

opened our first Drive Thru restaurant for this brand. 

This restaurant, also located within the PAMA Shopping 

Village offers ample indoor and outdoor seating and 

has its own children’s play area. The design of this store is in line with 

KFC’s new contemporary design which offers a modern yet warm 

dining environment. Initial response has been very encouraging with 

high sales being registered both within the restaurant itself as well as 

through the Drive Thru lane. 

Further investment is also planned with the remodelling later this year 

of the Gzira outlet which will be extensively refurbished, bringing it 

in line with the new design of KFC Mosta. Throughout the year we 

launched a number of limited time offers as well as a number of box 

meals which have now become a regular item on our menu. 

Malta’s first ever KFC Drive Thru, now open 
at the PAMA Shopping Village in Mosta.

Burger King rolls out its 6th outlet in Malta with the opening 
of a restaurant at the PAMA Shopping Village in Mosta.
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During the financial year, EcoPure has improved its performance 

compared to previous years, with increased water and cooler sales 

across all customer segments which contributed to increased 

revenues. Though the warmer weather has played some part in 

increasing demand, the positive performance is mainly the result 

of our success in securing new client accounts in spite of stiff 

competition. 

Our sales team designed packages specifically aimed at attracting 

different customer segments, backed by appropriate media 

campaigns, branding and promotional activities. 

The launch of our new user-friendly website, towards the end of the 

year, has generated interest with clients opening new accounts and 

placing orders directly on-line. Water vendor routes are continually 

reviewed and revised in order to maximize sales per visit, thus allowing 

better utilization of resources enabling us to meet increased demand, 

whilst containing costs.

Going forward, we expect price competition to further intensify, 

which will place added pressure on our contribution. The challenges 

are forcing us to revisit our ways of working, nonetheless, we remain 

determined to sustain this growth by offering better value, along 

with convenient water supply packages with a high level of customer 

service and to restructure ourselves in whichever way necessary to 

ensure we maintain a competitive and efficient set up.

“The chAllenGes ARe 
foRcinG us To RevisiT 
ouR wAys of woRKinG, 
noneTheless, we 
RemAin deTeRmined To 
susTAin This GRowTh” 
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oUr viSion and 
StrateGiC oUtlook 
As we continue to deliver the desired results, we need to keep our 

eyes on the horizon, to ensure that we make the most of opportunities 

which may arise, and that we are well prepared to face any upcoming 

challenges. Across the Group, we must keep our vision and strategic 

outlook aligned and focused towards attaining sustainable, profitable 

growth which will continue to be spearheaded through both our 

export drive and added focus on innovation. 

In line with the strong entrepreneurial spirit that has always been 

Farsons’ guide, we have never shied away from investments or from 

adapting to ensure that a robust, well structured, and competitive 

business model is maintained. 

As with all businesses, our resilience is sometimes put to the test, 

but such situations have actually made us stronger. Our Group 

now comprises an impressive line-up of investments. Our extended 

corporate business model includes various subsidiaries within the food 

and beverage sector, owning or representing highly successful brands. 

Crucially, we now also have a track record of delivering consistently 

robust financial results. 

As we close off another successful year, my sixth as Group Chief 

Executive, it is important to highlight that it is our people, at all levels, 

who underpin our success and continue to drive our project forward. 

Therefore, I cannot conclude, without expressing my gratitude to all 

for their support and collaboration. 

I must start with our Chairman Louis A. Farrugia for his visionary 

guidance, along with all the Board of Directors for their constant 

support. Likewise, to all management with whom we have together 

actively pursued our set objectives, overcoming so many challenges 

and rising on top of the opportunities throughout the year. A word 

of gratitude also goes to all our workforce, for their dedication and 

commitment.

All this augurs well as we continue to set the pace and move ahead, 

filling us all with added determination. 

norman aquilina Group Chief Executive 

12 May 2016

“As we close off 
AnoTheR successful 
yeAR, my siXTh As GRoup 
chief eXecuTive, iT is 
impoRTAnT To hiGhliGhT 
ThAT iT is ouR people, 
AT All levels, who 
undeRpin ouR success 
And conTinue To dRive 
ouR pRojecT foRwARd.”

The new financial year will be an important year for us as we now 

embark on our export strategy in a more prepared and meaningful 

way. Now that the investments, new product package launches and 

structures are in place, we need to translate this into results. Naturally, 

we will need some time to gain the desired momentum but we are 

determined to remain well on track with our ambitions for growth.

Our Group has a strong reputation of being a good corporate citizen, 

with all the responsibility that this entails. We are also known for our 

sound corporate governance and have every intention of actively 

building on this reputation. We have also earned a reputation for 

delivering consistent results, successfully living up to post-market 

liberalisation challenges. 
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dUrinG the FinanCial year Under 
review, the board oF direCtorS 
toGether with the exeCUtive 
manaGement have ContinUed to 
work on the reStrUCtUrinG proCeSS 
in order to Spin-oFF part oF the 
property intereStS From the Core 
bUSineSS aCtivitieS oF the FarSonS 
GroUp into a Separate and diStinCt 
property-FoCUSed pUbliC limited 
liability Company. 

pUrpoSe 

The Board believes that the spin-off is in the best interest of its 

business and its shareholders for the following reasons:

i. it will separate, while rendering more transparent, the trading 

performances and respective intrinsic values of the fast moving 

consumer food and beverage businesses from that of the  

property business;

ii. it will allow both companies to pursue their respective 

distinct strategies as separate entities while ensuring effective 

management focus on their businesses;

iii. it will unlock the value attached to the property portfolio;

iv. it will enable, if thought desirable, new investors, possibly  

with specific property expertise, to be brought into the  

property business;

v. it will enable shareholders, at their sole discretion, to determine 

whether to remain participants in both businesses and to  

which extent.

The Board has analysed in detail the options available on how to 

allocate the property portfolio. It believes that the food and beverage 

business should retain the land and buildings at Mriehel that support 

the manufacturing and beverage importation operations, the iconic old 

brewhouse and other selected properties that, it is envisaged, may be 

required by the food and beverage business in the future.

the Company

Trident Developments Limited, a fully owned subsidiary of Simonds 

Farsons Cisk plc, shall eventually change its status to a public limited 

company. The main activity of the Company is that of acting as a 

property holding company including the investment in four  

subsidiary companies. 

The properties to be owned by the holding company are mainly within 

prime sites and currently housing the following operations:

a. Pizza Hut, in Bisazza Street, Sliema 

b. Pizza Hut, in South Street, Valletta

c. Burger King, in Wilga Street, Paceville

d. KFC, in Msida Road, Gzira

e. Scotsman’s pub, in St. George’s Road, St. Julians

f. Fresco’s, limits of Sliema

SUbSidiary CompanieS

Two new companies are currently in formation. Firstly, Farsons 

Business Park Limited will own the brewery façade and will be 

entrusted to carry out the development of the offices complex and car 

park. Secondly, Trident House Limited will own over 12,000m2 of land 

in Marsa, part of which is currently housing the operations of the food 

importation arm and the head office of the franchised food business.

The other two subsidiaries are Mensija Catering Company Limited 

which holds an emphyteutical concession related to a property in  

St. Julians, currently operated as Pizza Hut and Sardinella and Sliema 

Fort Company Limited that owns the title of a lease relating to Sliema 

Fort Point Battery, otherwise known as Il-Fortizza.

Implementation of the above corporate structure is envisaged to be in 

place by the end of 2016.

It is the intention of the Board to issue a number of ordinary shares 

in the property company that would equate to the same number of 

ordinary shares in issue under Simonds Farsons Cisk plc. A dividend  

in specie would then be paid out to the current shareholders, and 

hence each shareholder would receive an equivalent number of shares 

in a newly listed company. 

Formal approval

The Board will be presenting to the shareholders the formal request 

to approve the spin-off during the June 2017 General Meeting. If such 

approval is forthcoming, an application will be immediately submitted 

to the Listing Authority for an eventual listing on the Malta Stock 

Exchange by the end of the year. 

The Board is also seeking to obtain formal approval from tax 

authorities in order to ensure that the proposed division of the 

group into two listed companies does not trigger off income tax and 

stamp duty charges which would make the proposed restructuring 

unfeasible. As has been amply explained, this transaction is being 

carried out for bona fide reasons as set out above.

trident 
developmentS 
limited – property 
manaGement
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Burger King, Paceville

KFC, Gzira

Pizza Hut and Sardinella, St. JuliansFresco’s, Sliema Scotsman’s Pub, St. Julians

Il-Fortizza, Sliema

Pizza Hut, Sliema

Pizza Hut, Valletta

Trident House, Marsa
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the board believeS that the FarSonS 
bUSineSS park development will 
be an exemplary tranSFormation 
oF a maGniFiCent liSted indUStrial 
bUildinG that will provide 
oUtStandinG Contemporary  
work and pUbliC SpaCeS.

The project is designed by an international firm of architects,  

Ian Ritchie Architects Ltd, with the support of a local architecture  

firm, TBA Periti, and assisted by a multi-disciplinary team of local  

and international experts and consultants.

The driving philosophy behind the Farsons Business Park project is to 

convert, rehabilitate and re-utilise the listed grade 2 Mriehel brewery 

site. All the components will remain mostly unaltered and the special 

interest interiors will be professionally restored. Great care has been 

taken to retain the integrity and unique aesthetic quality of the 

structures and the surrounding built environment while the  

important historical sight-line between Valletta and Mdina shall  

not be compromised.

The Business Park shall consist of five recessed storeys and seven 

low density office blocks all of which will be intersected by gardens 

inspired by the traditional character of Maltese palaces. 

The development aims to celebrate Maltese industrial heritage while 

establishing itself as the first local example of a listed ‘industrial’ 

building converted for modern day workspace and public re-use. The 

design seeks to reduce the environmental footprint to a minimum 

and set new green local standards and best practices for workspace 

environments through the application of new technologies for the 

cooling and heating of the proposed buildings. 

the FarSonS 
bUSineSS park 

The project will commence with the old brewhouse development 

within 2017. The development of the façade is scheduled to commence 

during the second half of 2017 to be completed by 2020. The 

development will contain 18,500 square metres of lettable office 

space, food and beverage facilities and visitors’ attractions besides 

other amenities.

An energy efficient multi-storey carpark, which will provide shading to 

around 700 vehicles, also forms part of the development.

FUndinG

Currently, the Board is also evaluating a number of funding options 

to ensure that both the food and beverage business and the property 

business will have adequate funding and appropriate levels of gearing, 

taking into account the substantial investment programmes. 

mrieh
_

el FoUndation

In March 2016, eighteen companies that are operating from within 

the Mriehel industrial estate have joined forces with Government to 

set up a foundation tasked with embellishing the Mriehel area and 

transforming it into a modern business centre. With a substantial 

level of private investment currently planned for the wider area, the 

Company believes that a longer term vision for Mriehel should be 

defined to improve the quality of the surrounding environment to 

further attract both local and international investment.

Louis A. Farrugia has been elected chairman of the Mriehel Enterprise 

Foundation for an eighteen month term commencing March 2016.
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direCtorS, 
board CommitteeS, 
GroUp exeCUtiveS & 
Senior manaGement
the board oF direCtorS

Louis A. Farrugia – Chairman

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – Vice-Chairman as from 1 August 2015

Roderick Chalmers

Michael Farrugia

Dr Max Ganado

Marina Hogg

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall

Baroness Christiane Ramsay Pergola – (as from 1 July 2015)

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

Antoinette Caruana – Company Secretary

GroUp exeCUtive board

Louis A. Farrugia – Chairman

Norman Aquilina – Group Chief Executive

Antoinette Caruana – Group HR Manager and Company Secretary

Michael Farrugia – Chief Business Development Officer

Ray Sciberras – Chief Operations Officer

Charles Xuereb – Chief Financial Officer

John Bonello Ghio – Group Head of Food Business (as from 1 August 2015)

Arthur Muscat – Secretary

Senior manaGement board

Norman Aquilina – Group Chief Executive

John Bonello Ghio – Group Head of Food Business (as from 1 August 2015)

Chris Borg Cardona – Head of Logistics

Antoinette Caruana – Group HR Manager and Company Secretary

Stefania Calleja – Head of Sales and Customer Relations

Eugenio Caruana – Head of Production

Claudio Farrugia – General Manager Quintano Foods Limited (up to 29 February 2016)

Michael Farrugia – Chief Business Development Officer

Philip Farrugia – Head of IT and Business Services

Ray Sciberras – Chief Operations Officer

Pierre Stafrace – General Manager Farsons Beverage Imports Company Limited

Stephen Sultana – Head of International Business Development

Susan Weenink – Head of Marketing and Communications

Charles Xuereb – Chief Financial Officer

Corporate GovernanCe Committee

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – Chairman

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall

Marina Hogg – (as from 1 August 2015)

Dr Max Ganado

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

related party tranSaCtionS Committee

Dr Max Ganado – Chairman

Roderick Chalmers – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

new ventUreS/aCQUiSitionS/merGerS Committee

Dr Max Ganado – Chairman

Michael Farrugia – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marina Hogg – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – (up to 1 August 2015)

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

board perFormanCe evalUation Committee

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall – Chairman

Michael Farrugia

Dr Max Ganado

Marina Hogg – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – (up to 1 August 2015)

remUneration Committee

Louis A. Farrugia – Chairman

Roderick Chalmers

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall – (as from 1 August 2015)

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – (as from 1 August 2015)

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

Marina Hogg – (up to 1 August 2015)

nomination Committee

Louis A. Farrugia – Chairman

Dr Max Ganado

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres

aUdit Committee

Roderick Chalmers – Chairman (as from 1 August 2015)

Marina Hogg

Marquis Marcus John Scicluna Marshall

Marcantonio Stagno d’Alcontres – (as from 1 August 2015)

Dr Max Ganado – (up to 1 August 2015)

Vincent Curmi – (up to 1 July 2015)

FarSonS FoUndation board oF trUSteeS

Bryan A. Gera – Chairman

Antoinette Caruana

Michael Farrugia

Franco Masini

Mark Miceli-Farrugia

Arthur Muscat

Kenneth Pullicino – Secretary
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direCtor’S 
report

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 january 2016.

Principal activities 

The group is engaged in the brewing, production and sale of branded 

beers and beverages, the importation, wholesale and retail of food and 

beverages, including wines and spirits, the operation of franchised food 

retailing establishments and property management.

Review of the business

tradinG perFormanCe 

The board of directors is pleased to announce the farsons Group’s 

financial results for the year ended 31 january 2016.

The Group recorded a profit of ¤11.2 million for the financial year ended 

31 january 2016, equivalent to an increase of ¤3.2 million or 40% over 

the previous financial year. pre-tax profit from continuing operations 

was ¤10.1 million, an improvement of 23% over the same period ended 

january 2015. 

Group turnover reached ¤85 million, a growth of 7% over previous 

financial year. operating profit increased by ¤1.8 million to exceed ¤11.4 

million whilst overheads were contained at 87% of the Group’s turnover, 

representing an improvement of 1.3 percentage points on january 2015.

 

ebiTdA amounted to ¤18.7 million, an increase of ¤1.5 million over last 

year, in line with the strong results for the financial year. The gearing 

ratio as at year end stood at 18% compared to 16% at end of january 

2015. The Group’s statement of financial position remains very robust 

and shareholders’ equity continued to improve and exceeded  

¤109 million.

inFlUenCinG FaCtorS and SeGmental perFormanCe

A number of factors have influenced the performance of the Group 

in the year under review. As reported by the national statistics office, 

during 2015, the maltese economy recorded a strong performance with 

a real Gdp growth of 6.3 per cent, while private consumption grew by 

5.1 per cent over the previous year. 

The tourism industry in malta once again broke all records and this, 

in turn, had a positive effect on the performance of our business 

segments, including the beverage market. The favourable weather 

conditions throughout the year were another factor that positively 

impacted the results through higher consumption levels from locally 

based consumers. 

The brewing and bottling business continued to register growth in 

both turnover and profitability with our flagship brands, cisk and 

Kinnie, posting solid performances and contributing significantly to 

the overall performance of the company. The results were also driven 

by a balanced execution of the Group’s commercial agenda and 

productivity programmes. 

The beverage importation arm has also registered a remarkably 

good performance with revenue growth registered across its diverse 

portfolio, partly as a result of a number of marketing and sales 

activities targeting different market segments, as well as the launch of 

new products. The Group’s own retail outlet, farsonsdirect, has also 

registered growth in sales, with the outlet attracting a growing number 

of both private clients and trade customers. 

Targeted measures have been taken to address the relatively poor 

performance of the food importation arm. Although the company 

continued to face challenges during the year under review in the 

light of continued intense competition within the sector, positive and 

encouraging results are currently being registered. The impact is 

expected to be reported in the forthcoming financial year.

The franchised food business also registered an encouraging 

performance with growth in both turnover and profitability. The full 

year’s performance of the qormi burger King drive-thru restaurant had 

a significant positive impact on the financial results of this division. 

inveStmentS

The new beer packaging facility project is reaching its final stages of 

completion. while the official inauguration of the investment in this 

facility is planned for september 2016, beer packaging in the new 

facility is already underway. it is envisaged that the benefits from this 

¤27 million investment will start to be realized during the second half of 

2016. furthermore, it is believed that this major investment will enable 

the Group to implement a broader and more ambitious export strategy.

moreover, construction works on the expansion of the logistics and 

warehousing operations, together with the extension of an additional 

two floors on top of the administration offices, are currently ongoing. 

This is in line with the Group’s objectives of meeting the future planned 

growth of the export business together with enabling the farsons 

business park project to commence. These developments and related 

investments are expected to cost ¤10 million, and are scheduled to be 

completed by August 2017.

Two restaurants, including a Kfc© drive-thru in mosta, were officially 

opened in 2016. This business now incorporates 14 restaurants spread 

across three international franchises. 
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property intereStS

Spin-off

The board has continued to firm up on its intent to hive off a number 

of properties and eventually ‘spin-off’ part of the Group’s property 

interests from the existing core business activities into a separate and 

distinct property-focused public limited liability company that will 

be listed on the malta stock exchange. The results of this segment 

continue to be disclosed as a discontinued operation, while the related 

assets and liabilities are being classified as held for sale.

The board will be presenting to the shareholders the formal request to 

approve the spin-off in the june 2017 Annual General meeting and, if 

such approval is forthcoming, shall apply for listing on the malta stock 

exchange by the end of that year.

Farsons Business Park

A further intensive effort has been made over the past year on the 

design of the farsons business park development. when completed, 

the project is expected to result in an investment of ¤60 million by the 

Group and will contain 18,500 square metres of lettable office space, 

food and beverage facilities, visitor attractions, a gym and a multi-level 

carpark with capacity for 700 vehicles. The professional fees on this 

project incurred to date are being accounted for under discontinued 

operations. Going forward, costs of a similar nature will be capitalized 

as part of the cost of the proposed development. 

The project will commence with the old brewhouse development 

during 2017 with the project to be completed by 2020. 

Changes to the capital gains tax rules

The effect of the changes to the taxation rules on capital gains as 

announced within the Government budget speech for fiscal year 2015 

are being reflected in the results under review. The net impact of these 

changes on the deferred tax liability attributable to the fair valuation of 

Group properties amounts to a reduction in the required deferred tax 

provision. ¤1.78 million of the deferred tax reduction has been reflected 

in the consolidated income statement under discontinued operations. 

A further amount of ¤1.07 million relating to property, plant and 

equipment has been adjusted through equity. .

oUtlook For FinanCial year endinG 31 JanUary 2017

market conditions within the soft drinks market are not expected to 

substantially change in the short to medium term. The market continues 

to evolve towards increased focus on wider consumer health issues 

that, together with a faster-paced lifestyle, is causing constant shifts in 

consumer trends. Top-line growth in soft drinks remains under pressure 

and changes in consumer preferences offer challenges, but also 

opportunities, in equal measure that the Group is addressing accordingly. 

in line with international trends, the craft beers segment is also 

achieving increasing market share. within this market context, the 

Group will continue to realign its product portfolio through innovation 

and further development of our own beer brands, particularly in 

view of the Group’s export growth strategy. The new beer packaging 

investment will facilitate this development.

while competition remains fierce and growing, the board believes that 

the Group is adequately positioned to offer the required resilience while 

being able to respond effectively and proactively to an evolving and 

increasingly complex market dynamics, both locally and overseas.

dividendS and reServeS

The income statements are set out on page 53.

The board declared a net interim dividend of ¤1,000,000, which 

was paid on 20 october 2015 to the ordinary shareholders, and will 

recommend the payment of a final dividend of ¤2,200,000 at the 

Annual General meeting scheduled for 28 june 2016.

The interim dividend was paid out of tax exempt profits. if approved at 

the Annual General meeting, the final dividend will be paid on 30 june 

2016 (also out of tax exempt profits) to those shareholders included 

on the Register of members of the company as at 27 may 2016. As a 

result, total declared dividends relating to the financial year ended  

31 january 2016 shall equate to ¤3,200,000 (2015: ¤3,000,000). 

Retained profits carried forward at the reporting date amounted to 

¤47,273,000 (2015: ¤38,864,000) for the Group and ¤43,609,000 

(2015: ¤36,083,000) for the company.

 

direCtorS

The directors who held office during the year were:

mr louis A. farrugia f.c.A. – chairman

mr vincent curmi c.p.A. – vice-chairman (until 1 july 2015)

mr marcantonio stagno d’Alcontres – vice-chairman as from 1 August 2015

marquis marcus john scicluna marshall

dr max Ganado ll.d.

mr Roderick chalmers m.A. div. (edin.) f.c.A., A.T.i.i., f.c.p.A., m.i.A.

ms marina hogg

mr michael farrugia m.A. (edin.)

baroness christiane Ramsay pergola (as from 1 july 2015)

mr Roderick chalmers, mr michael farrugia and dr max Ganado whose 

terms of appointment expire, retire from the board and are eligible  

for re-election.

Statement oF direCtorS’ reSponSibilitieS 

For the FinanCial StatementS

The directors are required by the maltese companies Act, 1995 to 

prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the Group and the parent company as at the end of each 

reporting period and of the profit or loss for that period.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:

•	ensuring	that	the	financial	statements	have	been	drawn	up	in	
accordance with international financial Reporting standards as 
adopted by the eu;

•	selecting	and	applying	appropriate	accounting	policies;

•	making	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	in	the	
circumstances;

•	ensuring	that	the	financial	statements	are	prepared	on	the	going	
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group 
and the parent company will continue in business as a going concern.

39 Annual Report 2015/16



The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and 

maintaining internal control as necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and that comply with the maltese companies Act, 

1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group 

and the parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements of simonds farsons cisk plc for the year 

ended 31 january 2016 are included in the Annual Report 2016, which 

is published in hard-copy printed form and is available on the parent 

company’s website. The directors are responsible for the maintenance 

and integrity of the Annual Report on the website in view of their 

responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the website. 

Access to information published on the parent company’s website 

is available in other countries and jurisdictions, where legislation 

governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from requirements or practice in malta.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

•	the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	
position of the group and the parent company as at 31 january 2016, 
and of the financial performance and the cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with international financial Reporting standards 
as adopted by the eu; and

•	the	annual	report	includes	a	fair	review	of	the	development	and	
performance of the business and the position of the group and the 
parent company, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that the group and the parent company face.

GoinG ConCeRn baSiS

After making enquiries, the directors, at the time of approving the 

financial statements, have determined that there is reasonable 

expectation that the group and the parent company have adequate 

resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future. for 

this reason, the directors have adopted the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements.

ShaReholdeR ReGiSteR inFoRmation PuRSuant 

to liStinG Rule 5.64

share capital information of the company is disclosed in note 14 of the 

financial statements on page 76.

The issued share capital consists of one class of ordinary shares with 

equal voting rights attached and freely transferable.

The list of shareholders holding 5% or more of the equity share capital 

is disclosed in this annual report.

every shareholder owning twelve and a half per cent (12.5%) of the 

ordinary issued share capital of the company or more shall be entitled 

to appoint one director for each and every twelve and a half per cent 

(12.5%) of the ordinary share capital owned by such shareholder and 

such shareholder may remove, withdraw or replace such director at 

any time. Any appointment, removal, withdrawal or replacement of a 

director to or from the board of directors shall take effect upon receipt 

by the board of directors or the company secretary of a notice in 

writing to that effect from the shareholder owning twelve and a half 

per cent (12.5%) of the ordinary issued share capital of the company or 

more. Any remaining fractions will be disregarded in the appointment 

of the said directors but may be used in the election of further  

directors at an Annual General meeting. The chairman is appointed  

by the directors from amongst the directors appointed or elected to 

the board.

The rules governing the appointment, election or removal of directors 

are contained in the company’s Articles of Association, Articles 93 to 

101. An extraordinary resolution approved by the shareholders in the 

general meeting is required to amend the Articles of Association.

The powers and duties of directors are outlined in Articles 84 to 91 of 

the company’s Articles of Association. in terms of Article 12 of the said 

Articles of Association, the company may, subject to the provisions of 

the maltese companies Act, 1995 acquire or hold any of its shares.

The collective Agreement regulates redundancies, early retirement, 

resignation or termination of employment of employees. no 

employment contracts are in place between the company and its 

directors, except as disclosed in the Remuneration report.

it is hereby declared that, as at 31 january 2016, the company is not 

party to any significant agreement pursuant to listing Rules 5.64.10.

furthermore, the board declares that the information required under 

listing Rules 5.64.5 and 5.64.7 is not applicable to the company.

auditoRS 

The auditors, pricewaterhousecoopers, have indicated their willingness 

to continue in office, and a resolution for their re-appointment will be 

proposed at the Annual General meeting.

by order of the board

louis a. Farrugia marcantonio Stagno d’alcontres

Chairman Vice-Chairman

Registered address:

The brewery, mdina Road, mrieh-el bKR 3000, malta

Telephone: (+356) 2381 4172

antoinette Caruana Company Secretary

12 may 2016
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Corporate GovernanCe 
Statement

a. introduction

This statement is being made by simonds farsons cisk plc (sfc) 

pursuant to listing Rules 5.94 and 5.97 issued by the listing Authority 

of the malta financial services Authority and sets out the measures 

taken to ensure compliance with the code of principles of Good 

corporate Governance (the code) contained in Appendix 5.1 to chapter 

5 of the said rules. in terms of listing Rule 5.94, sfc is obliged to 

prepare a report explaining how it has complied with the code. for the 

purposes of the listing Rules, sfc is hereby reporting on the extent of 

its adoption of the code.

sfc acknowledges that the code does not prescribe mandatory rules 

but recommends principles so as to provide proper incentives for the 

board of directors (the board) and sfc’s management to pursue

objectives that are in the interests of the company and its shareholders. 

since its establishment in 1948 as a public limited liability company,  

sfc has always adhered to generally accepted standards of good

corporate governance encompassing the requirements for 

transparency, proper accountability and the fair treatment of 

shareholders. The board of directors has therefore endorsed the code 

of principles and adopted it.

As demonstrated by the information set out in this statement,  

together with the information contained in the Remuneration report, 

sfc believes that it has, save as indicated in the section entitled non-

compliance with the code, throughout the accounting period under 

review, applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the 

code. in the non-compliance section, the board indicates and explains 

the instances where it has departed from or where it has not applied 

the code, as allowed by the code.

b. Compliance with the code

prinCiple 1: the board

The board’s role and responsibility is to provide the necessary 

leadership, to set strategy and to exercise good oversight and 

stewardship. in terms of the memorandum of Association of sfc,  

the affairs of the company are managed and administered by a board 

composed of eight directors.

The board is in regular contact with the Group chief executive through 

the chairman in order to ensure that the board is in receipt of timely 

and appropriate information in relation to the business of sfc and 

management performance. This enables the board to contribute 

effectively to the decision making process, whilst at the same time 

exercising prudent and effective controls.

directors are provided prior to each meeting with the necessary 

information and explanatory data as may be required by the 

particular item on the agenda. comprehensive financial statements 

are also provided every month. The company has its own legal 

advisors, both internal and external. The directors are entitled to seek 

independent professional advice at any time at the company’s expense 

where necessary for the proper performance of their duties and 

responsibilities.

The board delegates specific responsibilities to a number of 

committees, notably the corporate Governance committee, the 

Related party Transactions committee, the Audit committee, the board 

performance evaluation committee, the nomination committee, the 

new ventures/Acquisitions/mergers committee and the Remuneration 

committee, each of which operates under formal terms of reference 

approved by the board. further detail in relation to the committees  

and the responsibilities of the board is found in principles 4 and 5 of 

this statement.

prinCiple 2: Chairman and ChieF exeCUtive

The statute of sfc provides for the board to appoint from amongst its 

directors a chairman and a vice-chairman.

The chairman is responsible to lead the board and set its agenda, 

ensure that the directors of the board receive precise, timely and 

objective information so that they can take sound decisions and 

effectively monitor the performance of the company, ensure effective 

communication with shareholders and encourage active engagement 

by all members of the board for discussion of complex or  

contentious issues.

in december 2001, the board established a Group executive board 

(Geb) to ensure effective overall management and control of group 

business and proper co-ordination of the diverse activities undertaken 

by the various business units and subsidiaries which make up the 

group. The Geb is responsible:

1. for the formulation and implementation of policies as approved by 
the board;

2. to achieve the objectives of the group as determined by the board 
and accordingly;

3. to devise and put into effect such plans and to organise, manage, 
direct and utilise the human resources available and all physical and 
other assets of the group so as to achieve the most economically 
efficient use of all resources and highest possible profitability in the 
interest of the shareholders and all other stakeholders.

All members of the Geb itself are senior sfc executives with 

experience of the group’s business and proven professional ability, and 

each has a particular sphere of interest within his competence. The 

company’s current organisational structure includes a chairman of the 

Geb and a Group chief executive, two positions which are occupied by 

mr louis A. farrugia and mr norman Aquilina respectively.
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The Group chief executive reports regularly to the board on the 

business and affairs of the group and the commercial, economic  

and other challenges facing it. he is also responsible to ensure that 

all submissions made to the board are timely, give a true and correct 

picture of the issue or issues under consideration, and are of high 

professional standards as may be required by the subject matter 

concerned.

The Group chief executive chairs a farsons Group management 

meeting on a weekly basis, during which operational issues on a 

company and group basis are discussed. The company has an 

operations board which discusses operational issues on a monthly 

basis, a Group Receivables Review board which monitors the collection 

of receivables, and a quality board which monitors quality levels 

and controls. These boards are composed of executive managers of 

the group. each subsidiary has its own management structure and 

accounting systems and internal controls, and is governed by its own 

board, whose members comprise sfc directors and/or representatives 

of the Geb, and/or senior management of sfc.

The above arrangements provide sufficient delegation of powers to 

achieve effective management. The organisational structure ensures 

that decision making powers are spread wide enough to allow proper 

control and reporting systems to be in place and maintained in such 

a way that no one individual or small group of individuals actually has 

unfettered powers of decision.

prinCiple 3: CompoSition oF the board

The board is composed of a chairman who also acts as chairman of 

the Geb, a non-executive vice-chairman and six other non-executive 

directors.

executive directors

mr louis A. farrugia f.c.A. – chairman

non-executive directors

mr vincent curmi c.p.A. – vice-chairman (until 1 july 2015)

mr marcantonio stagno d’Alcontres – vice-chairman as from 01 August 2015

marquis marcus john scicluna marshall

dr max Ganado ll.d.

mr Roderick chalmers m.A. div. (edin.) f.c.A., A.T.i.i., f.c.p.A., m.i.A.

ms marina hogg

mr michael farrugia m.A. (edin.)

baroness christiane Ramsay pergola (as from 1 july 2015)

The Group chief executive attends all board meetings, albeit without a 

vote, in order to ensure his full understanding and appreciation of the 

board’s policy and strategy, and so that he can provide direct input to 

the board’s deliberations.

The board considers that the size of the board, whilst not being large 

as to be unwieldy, is appropriate, taking into account the size of the 

company and its operations. The combined and varied knowledge, 

experience and skills of the board members provide a balance of 

competences that are required, and add value to the functioning  

of the board and its direction to the company.

it is in the interest of each of the three major shareholders (who are 

the original promoters of the company) to nominate as directors 

knowledgeable, experienced and diligent persons. Apart from 

this, informal arrangements, which do not infringe on their rights 

as shareholders, exist for consultation prior to any changes in the 

membership of the board, as well as to assist in the identification 

of suitable persons who can be nominated for election by the 

other shareholders at general meetings, and who can bring in an 

independent viewpoint and particular knowledge to the deliberations 

of the board.

All directors, other than the chairman of the Group executive board 

and mr michael farrugia, are considered independent as no shareholder 

has a controlling interest and has no relationship with management.

The board has taken the view that the length of service on the board 

and the close family ties between board members who undertake 

an executive or senior management role in the company do not 

undermine any of the directors' ability to consider appropriately the 

issues which are brought before the board. Apart from possessing 

valuable experience and wide knowledge of the company and its 

operations, the board feels that the directors in question are able to 

exercise independent judgement and are free from any relationship 

which can hinder their objectivity. on the other hand, the board 

believes that by definition, employment with the company renders a 

director non-independent from the institution. This should not however, 

in any manner, detract from the non-independent director’s ability to 

maintain independence of analysis, decision and action.

prinCipleS 4 and 5: the reSponSibilitieS oF the board and 

board meetinGS

The board meets regularly every month apart from other occasions as 

may be needed. individual directors, apart from attendance at formal 

board meetings, participate in other ad hoc meetings during the year 

as may be required, and are also active in board sub-committees as 

mentioned further below, either to assure good corporate governance, 

or to contribute more effectively to the decision making process.

meetings held: 14

members attended

mr louis A. farrugia (chairman) 14

mr vincent curmi (up to 1 july 2015) 7

mr marcantonio stagno d’Alcontres 13

marquis marcus john scicluna marshall 12

dr max Ganado 12

mr Roderick chalmers 13

ms marina hogg 14

mr michael farrugia 14

baroness christiane Ramsay pergola (as from 1 july 2015) 7

The board, in fulfilling this mandate within the terms of the company’s 

memorandum and Articles of Association, and discharging its duty of 

stewardship of the company and the group, assumes responsibility for 

the following:

•	reviewing	and	approving	the	business	plan	and	targets	that	are	
submitted by management, and working with management in the 
implementation of the business plan;

•	identifying	the	principal	business	risks	for	the	group	and	overseeing	
the implementation and monitoring of appropriate risk management 
systems;
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•	ensuring	that	effective	internal	control	and	management	information	
systems for the group are in place;

•	assessing	the	performance	of	the	group’s	executive	officers,	including	
monitoring the establishment of appropriate systems for succession 
planning, and for approving the compensation levels of such 
executive officers; and

•	ensuring	that	the	group	has	in	place	a	policy	to	enable	it	to	
communicate effectively with shareholders, other stakeholders and 
the public generally.

The board is ultimately responsible for the company’s system of internal 

controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. such a system is designed 

to manage rather than eliminate risk to achieve business objectives, 

and can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 

material error, losses or fraud. Through the Audit committee, the board 

reviews the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal controls, 

which are monitored by the internal Audit department.

in fulfilling its responsibilities, the board regularly reviews and approves 

various management reports as well as annual financial plans, including 

capital budgets. The strategy, processes and policies adopted for 

implementation are regularly reviewed by the board using key 

performance indicators. To assist it in fulfilling its obligations, the  

board has delegated responsibility to the chairman of the Group 

executive board.

board Committees

The board has set up the following sub-committees to assist it in the 

decision making process and for the purposes of good corporate 

governance. The actual composition of these committees are given 

in the annual report, but as stated earlier, each of the three major 

shareholders and the public shareholders are represented as far  

as possible.

Corporate Governance Committee is presided over by a non-executive 

director. its terms of reference are to monitor, review and ensure the 

best corporate practices and report thereon to the board. directors 

and senior officers who want to deal in the company’s listed securities, 

are obliged to give advance notice to the board through the chairman 

(or in his absence to the secretary of the board) and records are kept 

accordingly.

Related Party Transactions Committee is presided over by the  

non-executive vice-chairman and deals with and reports to the board 

on all transactions with related parties. in the case of any director who 

is a related party with respect to a particular transaction, such director 

does not participate in the committee’s deliberation and decision on 

the transaction concerned.

control mechanisms relevant to the reporting of related party 

transactions are in place to ensure that information is vetted and 

collated on a timely basis, before reporting to the Related party 

Transactions committee for independent and final review of the 

transactions concerned.

The Audit Committee’s primary objective is to assist the board 

in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities and to give advice on the 

effectiveness of the internal control systems and procedures, 

accounting policies, management of financial risks, financial  

reporting processes, as well as compliance with regulatory  

and legal requirements.

The Audit committee also approves and reviews the internal audit 

plan prior to the commencement of every financial year. The Audit 

committee oversees the conduct of the internal and external audits 

and acts to facilitate communication between the board, management, 

the external auditors and the group internal auditor.

The Audit committee is chaired by the non-executive director 

and comprises three other members all of whom are independent 

non-executive directors of the company. mr Roderick chalmers, the 

chairman of the Audit committee, was appointed by the board in terms 

of listing Rule 5.118 in view that he is a certified public Accountant and 

holder of a practising certificate in auditing.

Throughout the year ended 31 january 2016, the Audit committee 

held five meetings. Audit committee meetings are held mainly to 

discuss formal reports remitted by the Group internal Auditor but also 

to consider the external auditors’ audit plan, the six-monthly financial 

results and the annual financial statements.

The Group internal Auditor, who also acts as secretary to the 

Audit committees, is present at Audit committee meetings. The 

external auditors are invited to attend specific meetings of the 

Audit committee, and are also entitled to convene a meeting of the 

committee if they consider that it is necessary. The chairman of the 

Group executive board and the chief finance officer are also invited 

to attend Audit committee meetings. members of management may 

be asked to attend specific meetings at the discretion of the Audit 

committee.

Apart from these formal meetings, the Audit committee chairman and 

the Group internal Auditor meet informally on a regular basis to discuss 

ongoing issues.

A group internal audit department was established in 1993 and has an 

independent status within the group. in fact, the Group internal Auditor 

reports directly to the Audit committee and has right of direct access 

to the chairman of the committee at all times.

The Group internal Auditor works on the basis of an audit plan which 

focuses on areas of greatest risk as determined by a risk management 

approach. The audit plan is approved by the Audit committee at the 

beginning of the financial year, and subsequent revisions to this plan 

in view of any ad hoc assignments arising throughout the year, would 

have to be approved by the Audit committee chairman.

new ventures/Acquisitions/mergers committee, presided over by 

the non-executive vice-chairman, examines and reports on any 

proposal made by the Geb for the setting up of any new ventures, the 

acquisition of other businesses and entering into mergers with other 

parties, as well as to recommend policy guidelines thereon.

The board performance evaluation committee and the nomination 

committee are dealt with under principle 7 and principle 8 respectively 

whilst the Remuneration committee is dealt with under the 

Remuneration report, which also includes the Remuneration statement 

in terms of code provisions 8.A.3 and 8.A.4.
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prinCiple 6: inFormation and proFeSSional development

The Group chief executive is appointed by the board and enjoys the 

full confidence of the board. The Group chief executive, although 

responsible for the recruitment and selection of senior management, 

consults with the board on the appointment of, and on a succession 

plan for, senior management. Training (both internal and external) of 

management and employees is a priority, coordinated through the 

company's human Resources department.

on joining the board, a director is provided with briefings by the 

chairman and the Group chief executive on the activities of the 

company's business areas. furthermore, all new directors are offered  

a tailored induction programme.

directors may, where they judge it necessary to discharge their duties 

as directors, take independent professional advice on any matter at the 

company’s expense.

under the direction of the chairman, the company secretary’s 

responsibilities include ensuring good information flows within the 

board and its committees and between senior management and  

non-executive directors, as well as facilitating induction and assisting 

with professional development as required.

directors have access to the advice and services of the company 

secretary, who is responsible for ensuring adherence to board 

procedures, as well as good information flows within the board  

and its committees.

The chairman ensures that board members continually update their 

skills and the knowledge and familiarity with the company required  

to fulfil their role both on the board and on board committees.  

The company provides the necessary resources for developing  

and updating its directors’ knowledge and capabilities.

The company secretary is responsible for advising the board through 

the chairman on all governance matters.

prinCiple 7: evalUation oF the board’S perFormanCe

in 2009, a Board Performance Evaluation Committee chaired by a 

non-executive director, was set up. its role is to deal with the board’s 

performance evaluation and identify ways how to improve the board’s 

effectiveness.

The evaluation exercise is conducted every 2 years through a board 

effectiveness questionnaire prepared by the company secretary in 

liaison with the chairman of the committee. The company secretary 

discusses the results with the chairman of the committee who then 

presents the same to the board together with initiatives undertaken 

to improve the board’s performance. during the intermediate year, the 

chairman undertakes to assess whether shortcomings identified during 

the board performance evaluation process have been addressed and 

reported accordingly to the board. The latest review has not resulted 

in any material changes in the company’s internal organisation or in its 

governance structures. The non-executive directors are responsible for 

the evaluation of the chairman of the board.

prinCiple 8: CommitteeS

The Remuneration committee is dealt with under the Remuneration 

report, which also includes the Remuneration statement in terms of 

code provisions 8.A.3 and 8.A.4.

The nomination committee, chaired by a non-executive director was 

set up in march 2013 with the objective of leading the process for board 

appointments and to make recommendations to it. Any proposal for 

the appointment of a director whether by the three major shareholders 

or by the general meeting of shareholders should be accompanied 

by a recommendation from the board, based on the advice of the 

nomination committee.

every shareholder owning twelve and a half percent (12.5%) ordinary 

issued share capital or more, is entitled to appoint and replace a 

director for each and every twelve and a half percent (12.5%) of such 

shares, and the remaining ordinary shares not so utilised are entitled 

to fill the remaining unfilled posts of directors. Thus, each of the three 

major shareholders who are named and whose holdings are listed in 

the notes to the financial statements (page 87), normally each appoint 

two directors for a total of six, the remaining two directors then being 

elected by the general public shareholders. Accordingly, no individual 

or small group of individuals will be in a position to dominate the board. 

The interests of the directors in the shares of the company  

are disclosed in this annual report.

prinCipleS 9 and 10: relationS with ShareholderS and 

with the market, and inStitUtional ShareholderS

The company recognises the importance of maintaining a dialogue 

with its shareholders and of keeping the market informed to ensure 

that its strategies and performance are well understood. The board 

is of the view that during the period under review the company has 

communicated effectively with the market through a number of 

company announcements and press releases.

The board endeavours to protect and enhance the interests of both 

the company and its shareholders, present and future. The chairman 

ensures that the views of shareholders are communicated to the board 

as a whole.

The board always ensures that all holders of each class of capital are 

treated fairly and equally. The board also acts in the context that its 

shareholders are constantly changing and, consequently, decisions take 

into account the interests of future shareholders as well.

shareholders appreciate the significance of participation in the general 

meetings of the company and particularly in the election of directors. 

They hold directors to account for their actions, their stewardship of 

the company’s assets and the performance of the company.

The agenda for general meetings of shareholders and the conduct 

of such meetings is arranged in such a manner to encourage valid 

discussion and decision-taking.

The chairman and the group chief executive also ensure that sufficient 

contact is maintained with major shareholders to understand issues 

and concerns.
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The company also communicates with its shareholders through the 

company’s Annual General meeting (AGm) (further detail is provided 

under the section entitled General meetings).

The chairman makes arrangements for the chairmen of the Audit  

and Remuneration committees to be available to answer questions,  

if necessary.

Apart from the AGm, sfc communicates with its shareholders by way 

of the Annual Report and financial statements, by publishing and 

sending to the shareholders its results on an annual basis.

The company’s website (www.farsons.com) also contains information 

about the company and its business, including an investor  

Relations section.

in addition, the company holds a meeting for stockbrokers and  

financial intermediaries once a year to coincide with the publication  

of its financial statements.

The company secretary maintains two-way communication between 

the company and its investors. individual shareholders can raise 

matters relating to their shareholdings and the business of the group 

at any time throughout the year, and are given the opportunity to ask 

questions at the AGm or submit written questions in advance.

in terms of article 51 of the Articles of Association of the company 

and article 129 of the maltese companies Act, the board may call 

an extraordinary general meeting on the requisition of shareholders 

holding not less than one tenth (1/10) of the paid up share capital of  

the company. minority shareholders are allowed to formally present  

an issue to the board of directors.

in the event of conflicts arising between minority shareholders and the 

three major shareholders, who are also the original promoters of the 

company, every effort shall be made to seek mediation.

prinCiple 11: ConFliCtS oF intereSt

The directors are strongly aware of their responsibility to act at all times 

in the interest of the company and its shareholders as a whole and of 

their obligation to avoid conflicts of interest. The latter may, and do 

arise on specific matters. in such instances:

•	a	director	is	obliged	to	make	full	and	frank	disclosure	with	respect	
to any matter where there is a potential or actual conflict, whether 
such conflict arises from personal interests or the interests of the 
companies in which such person is a director or officer;

•	the	said	director	is	excused	from	the	meeting	and	accordingly	is	not	
involved in the company’s board discussion on the matter; and

•	the	said	director	does	not	vote	on	any	such	matter.

A director having a continuing material interest that conflicts with the 

interests of the company, is obliged to take effective steps to eliminate 

the grounds for conflict. in the event that such steps do not eliminate 

the grounds for conflict then the director should consider resigning.

on joining the board and regularly thereafter, the directors are 

informed of their obligations on dealing in securities of the company 

within the parameters of law, including the listing Rules.

The directors’ interests in the share capital of the company as at  

31 january 2016 and as at 12 may 2016 are disclosed in the shareholder 

information.

prinCiple 12: Corporate SoCial reSponSibility

The principle objective of the company’s commitment to corporate 

social Responsibility (csR) is to provide support where possible 

in aspects that include social, occupational, financial, cultural and 

historical values. having been in existence for more than 80 years, the 

company is very much rooted in local culture and as a company it 

endeavours to meet the expectations of the community by engaging 

among a host of other initiatives in the following:

•	Corporate	Social	Responsibility	(CSR)	Day	initiative	–	Together	
with other sponsoring companies employees volunteer to carry out 
turnkey projects involving one day's work during a public holiday;

•	Sponsorships	of	major	charitable	events	on	a	national	level;

•	Promoting	the	industrial	heritage	of	the	Maltese	Islands;

•	Co-operating	with	the	University	of	Malta	particularly	in	the	areas	of	
engineering, the built environment and history;

•	Participation	in	recognised	national	student-exchange	programmes	
for the benefit of local and foreign students;

•	Assisting	with	environmental	projects;

•	Waste	and	energy	conservation	initiatives	and	policies;

•	Liaising	with	NGOs	and	the	provision	of	employment	opportunity	for	
groups of people with a disability on a yearly basis;

•	Assisting	employees	encountering	medical	problems	with	obtaining	
overseas medical treatment;

•	Supporting	employees	with	a	home	loan	interest	subsidy	scheme;

•	Employee	Assistance	Programmes	for	employees	needing	support,	
rehabilitation, counselling and advice;

•	The	Farsons	Foundation	which	was	established	in	1995	promotes	and	
supports local initiatives and considers requests from a social, cultural 
and historical perspective at no commercial gain for the company. 
The foundation is entirely funded by subventions authorised by the 
sfc board. The aims of the foundation are to:

– promote and assist the development and public manifestation of 
maltese culture especially in the fields of art, music, literature and 
drama;

– contribute research projects and assist in the publication of studies 
undertaken by any duly qualified person or persons, regarding 
maltese disciplines relating to art, music and drama;

– provide assistance to talented maltese to enable them to obtain 
higher professional standard than those that can be obtained locally 
in disciplines relating to art, music and drama;

– contribute by means of financial assistance towards the work of 
any private, voluntary and non-profit organisation or religious body 
engaged principally in fostering social solidarity.

C. non-compliance with the code

prinCiple 4 (Code proviSion 4.2.7):

This code provision recommends “the development of a succession 

policy for the future composition of the board of directors and 

particularly the executive component thereof, for which the chairman 

should hold key responsibility”.
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in the context of the appointment of directors being a matter reserved 

exclusively to sfc’s shareholders (except where the need arises to fill 

a casual vacancy) as explained under principle 3 in section b, and on 

the basis of the directors non-executive role, the company does not 

consider it feasible to have in place such a succession policy. however, 

the recommendation to have in place such a policy will be kept under 

review. An active succession policy is however in place for senior 

executive positions in the company including that of the Group  

chief executive.

d. internal control and risk management internal Control

The key features of the group’s system of internal control are as follows:

Organisation:

The group operates through boards of directors of subsidiaries and 

associates with clear reporting lines and delegation of powers.

Control Environment:

The group is committed to the highest standards of business conduct 

and seeks to maintain these standards across all of its operations. 

Group policies and employee procedures are in place for the reporting 

and resolution of fraudulent activities. The group has an appropriate 

organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and 

monitoring business operations in order to achieve group objectives.

Risk Identification:

Group management is responsible together with each company’s 

management, for the identification, evaluation, control and reporting of 

major risks applicable to their areas of business.

Reporting:

The group has implemented control procedures designed to ensure 

complete and accurate accounting for financial transactions and 

to limit the potential exposure to loss of assets or fraud. measures 

taken include physical controls, segregation of duties, reviews by 

management and internal audit.

on a monthly basis the board receives a comprehensive analysis of 

financial and business performance, including reports comparing actual 

performance with budgets as well as analysis of any variances.

e. General meetings

The manner in which the general meeting is conducted is outlined in 

Articles 49 to 52 of the company’s Articles of Association, subject to 

the provisions of the maltese companies Act, 1995.

within six months of the end of the financial year, an Annual 

General meeting of shareholders is convened to consider the annual 

consolidated financial statements, the directors’ and auditor’s report for 

the year, to decide on dividends recommended by the board, to elect 

the directors and appoint the auditors. prior to the commencement of 

the Annual General meeting, a presentation is made to shareholders 

on the progress made and strategies adopted during the year in the 

light of prevailing market and economic conditions and the objectives 

set by the board, and an assessment on future prospects is given. The 

group’s presence on the worldwide web (www.farsons.com) contains a 

corporate information section.

Apart from the above, the group publishes its financial results every 

six months and from time to time issues public notices regarding 

matters which may be of general interest or of material importance to 

shareholders and the market in general, or which may concern price 

sensitive issues.

At the time of the Annual General meeting, the publication of 

the six monthly report or significant events affecting the group, 

public meetings are held to which institutional investors, financial 

intermediaries and inventory brokers are invited to attend. press 

releases are also issued regularly on the business activities of the group.

All shareholders registered in the shareholders’ Register on the Record 

date as defined in the listing Rules, have the right to attend, participate 

and vote in the general meeting. A shareholder or shareholders holding 

not less than 5% of the voting issued share capital may request the 

company to include items on the agenda of a general meeting and/

or table draft resolutions for items included in the agenda of a general 

meeting. such requests are to be received by the company at least 

forty six (46) days before the date set for the relative general meeting.

A shareholder who cannot participate in the general meeting can 

appoint a proxy by written or electronic notification to the company. 

every shareholder represented in person or by proxy is entitled to 

ask questions which are pertinent and related to items on the agenda 

of the general meeting and to have such questions answered by the 

directors or such persons as the directors may delegate  

for that purpose.

Approved by the board of directors on 12 may 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

louis a. Farrugia marcantonio Stagno d’alcontres

Chairman Vice-Chairman
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remUneration report

1. terms of Reference and membership

The Remuneration committee is presided over by the chairman of the 

company. its terms of reference are to review from time to time and 

to report and make recommendations on the non-executive directors’ 

remuneration generally as well as the conditions of service of the 

chairman, group chief executive and senior management. in the case of 

the chairman or of any remuneration to an individual director for extra 

services, the interested director concerned including the chairman, 

apart from not voting in terms of the sfc statute, does not attend 

the meeting during the discussion at committee or board level and 

decisions are therefore taken in his absence.

2. meetings

The Remuneration committee met twice during the financial year 

ended 31 january 2016.

3. Remuneration Statement

3.1 Senior exeCUtiveS

for the purposes of this Remuneration statement, references to ‘senior 

executives’ shall mean the members of the Geb.

The group’s human resources department is responsible (apart from 

normal staff administration and training and upgrading of proficiency 

of technical and managerial personnel and workforce in general), to 

carry out regular reviews of the compensation structure pertaining to 

senior management in the light of the group’s performance, economic 

situation and market trends. one of the main objectives is to recruit 

and retain executives of high professional standards and competence 

who can enhance the group’s performance and assure the best 

operational and administrative practices.

The group’s human resources manager reports and makes 

recommendations periodically to the board on the remuneration 

package, including bonus arrangements for achieving  

pre-determined targets.

The Remuneration committee is required to evaluate, recommend and 

report on any proposals made by the group human resources manager 

relating to management remuneration and conditions of service. 

The committee considers that the current executive management 

remuneration packages are based upon the appropriate local market 

equivalents, and are fair and reasonable for the responsibilities involved. 

The committee also believes that the remuneration packages are such 

as to enable the company to attract, retain and motivate executives 

having the appropriate skills and qualities to ensure the proper 

management of the organisation.

The committee is also charged with considering and determining any 

recommendations from management on requests for early retirement.

The terms and conditions of employment of senior executives are set 

out in their respective contracts of employment with the company. As 

a general rule, such contracts, with the exception of that pertaining to 

the Group chief executive, do not contain provisions for termination 

payments and other payments linked to early termination.

senior management is eligible for an annual performance bonus which 

is linked to agreed performance targets and their achievement.

in the case of the Group chief executive, the Remuneration committee 

is of the view that the linkage between fixed remuneration and 

performance bonus is reasonable and appropriate.

There are no profit sharing, share options or pension benefit 

arrangements.

The Group chief executive is eligible for an annual bonus entitlement 

by reference to the attainment of pre-established objectives and 

targets as approved by the Remuneration committee.

non-cash benefits to which senior executives are entitled are 

principally the use of a company car and health insurance.

3.2 direCtorS

The board is composed exclusively of executive and non-executive 

directors. The determination of remuneration arrangements for board 

members is a reserved matter for the board as a whole, following the 

submission of recommendations by the committee.

The chairman has an indefinite service contract which is periodically 

reviewed by the rest of the board. A fixed salary is payable, but at the 

beginning of each financial year, the board establishes a number of 

objectives against the achievement of which a performance bonus may 

be considered.

except for the chairman and for mr michael farrugia no other director 

is employed or has a service contract with the company or any  

of its subsidiaries.
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The remuneration of the other directors is determined on the basis 

of their responsibilities, time committed to the group’s affairs, 

including attendance at regular board meetings, serving on boards of 

subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities and work done in connection 

with the various sub-committees of which they are members.

There is no linkage between the remuneration and the performance  

of directors.

no director (including the chairman) is entitled to profit sharing, share 

options or pension benefits, and there are no outstanding loans or 

guarantees provided by the company or any of its subsidiaries  

to any director.

in terms of non-cash benefits, directors are entitled principally to health 

insurance and the use of a company car or equivalent.

in terms of a recommendation by the Remuneration committee and 

which was subsequently approved by the board of directors, directors 

appointed to the committees of the board shall be entitled to specific 

remuneration as from 1 february 2016. The introduction of specific 

remuneration is subject to the approval of an increase in the maximum 

annual aggregate emoluments that may be paid to directors, by the 

General meeting.

variable and non variable emoluments of directors and Senior management 

Fixed 
Remuneration

variable 
Remuneration Share options others

senior management 410,000 152,000 none non-cash benefits referred to above under 3.1

directors 445,000 43,000 none non-cash benefits referred to above under 3.2

3.3 total emolUmentS

The maximum annual aggregate emoluments that may be paid 

to the directors is approved by the shareholders in the Annual 

General meeting in terms of Article 81(i) of the company’s Articles of 

Association. This amount was fixed at an aggregate sum of ¤500,000 

per annum at the 64th Annual General meeting held on 23 june 2011.

 

The following is an outline of the directors’ remuneration for the 

financial year under review:

directors’ fees ¤192,000

directors’ other emoluments ¤238,000

directors’ salary ¤58,000

The board also approved the granting of a one time gratuity payment 

of ¤125,000 to the former vice chairman after the completion of 

37 years of valid service in the post. This amount will only be paid 

following its ratification at the forthcoming Annual General meeting.
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independent 
aUditor’S report

To the shareholders of simonds farsons cisk plc

Report on the Financial Statements for the year ended  

31 January 2016

we have audited the consolidated and stand-alone parent company 

financial statements of simonds farsons cisk plc (together the 

“financial statements”) on pages 51 to 88, which comprise the 

consolidated and parent company statements of financial position as at 

31 january 2016, and the consolidated and parent company statements 

of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 

for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

As explained more comprehensively in the statement of directors’ 

responsibilities for the financial statements on page 39, the directors 

are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with international financial Reporting 

standards (ifRss) as adopted by the eu and the requirements of 

the maltese companies Act, 1995, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audit. we conducted our audit in accordance with 

international standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 

the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 

view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

we believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

in our opinion the financial statements:

•	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	of	the	group	and	
the parent company as at 31 january 2016, and of their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with ifRss as adopted by the eu; and

•	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	
of the maltese companies Act, 1995.

Report on other legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on the statement of compliance with the Principles of  

Good Corporate Governance

The listing Rules issued by the malta listing Authority require the 

directors to prepare and include in their annual report a corporate 

Governance statement providing an explanation of the extent to 

which they have adopted the code of principles of Good corporate 

Governance and the effective measures that they have taken to ensure 

compliance throughout the accounting period with those principles.

The listing Rules also require the auditor to include a report on the 

corporate Governance statement prepared by the directors.

we read the corporate Governance statement and consider the 

implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 

misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements 

included in the annual report. our responsibilities do not extend 

to considering whether this statement is consistent with any other 

information included in the annual report.

we are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the board’s 

statements on internal control included in the corporate Governance 

statement cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s corporate governance procedures  

or its risk and control procedures.

in our opinion, the corporate Governance statement set out on 

pages 41 to 46 has been properly prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the listing Rules issued by the malta listing Authority.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

we also have responsibilities under the maltese companies Act, 1995 to 

report to you if, in our opinion:

•	The	information	given	in	the	directors’	report	is	not	consistent	with	
the financial statements.

•	Adequate	accounting	records	have	not	been	kept,	or	that	returns	
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us.

•	The	financial	statements	are	not	in	agreement	with	the	accounting	
records and returns.

•	We	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	we	
require for our audit.

•	Certain	disclosures	of	directors’	remuneration	specified	by	law	are	
not made in the financial statements, giving the required particulars 
in our report.

under the listing Rules, to review the statement made by the directors, 

set out on page 40, that the business is a going concern together with 

supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

we have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

pricewaterhousecoopers

78 mill street,

qormi, malta

Simon Flynn Partner

12 may 2016
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aSSetS
as at 31 January

Group Company

 2016  2015  2016 2015

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current assets

property, plant and equipment 5 89,983 80,170 74,577 65,643

intangible assets 7 658 718 – –

investments in subsidiaries 8 – – 13,706 13,706

deferred tax assets 21 4,210 1,693 5,153 3,205

Trade and other receivables 12 2,757 1,392 2,757 1,392

Total non-current assets 97,608 83,973 96,193 83,946

Current assets

inventories 11 12,334 11,117 6,838 6,425

Trade and other receivables 12 18,495 16,631 16,676 15,729

current tax assets 133 344 – –

cash and cash equivalents 13 2,445 4,505 692 2,870

Total current assets 33,407 32,597 24,206 25,024

non-current assets classified as held for sale 24 31,558 33,041 19,478 20,559

  64,965 65,638 43,684 45,583

total assets 162,573 149,611 139,877 129,529

StatementS oF 
FinanCial poSition
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as at 31 January

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Capital and reserves attributable to owners 
 of the company

share capital 14 9,000 9,000 9,000 9,000

Revaluation and other reserves 16, 17 54,105 53,221 44,961 46,121

hedging reserve 18 (919) (850) (919) (850)

Retained earnings 47,273 38,864 43,609 36,083

total equity 109,459 100,235 96,651 90,354

non-current liabilities

provisions for other liabilities and charges 21, 22 54 101 54 101

Trade and other payables 23 1,184 1,593 1,184 1,593

derivative financial instruments 19 1,083 1,007 1,083 1,007

borrowings 20 23,807 22,483 23,807 22,483

Total non-current liabilities 26,128 25,184 26,128 25,184

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 20,056 16,690 12,324 10,029

current tax liabilities 690 502 – –

derivative financial instruments 19 330 300 330 300

borrowings 20 3,026 1,807 2,924 1,757

Total current liabilities 24,102 19,299 15,578 12,086

liabilities directly attributable to non-current 
 assets held for sale 24 2,884 4,893 1,520 1,905

26,986 24,192 17,098 13,991

total liabilities 53,114 49,376 43,226 39,175

total equity and liabilities 162,573 149,611 139,877 129,529

The notes on pages 58 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 37 to 88 were authorised for issue by the board on 12 may 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

louis a. Farrugia marcantonio Stagno d’alcontres norman aquilina

Chairman Vice-Chairman Group Chief Executive

eQUity and 
liabilitieS 
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Year ended 31 January

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Continuing operations:

Revenue 4 84,918 79,206 46,679 44,189

cost of sales 25 (51,924) (49,705) (22,801) (22,653)

Gross profit 32,994 29,501 23,878 21,536

selling and distribution costs 25 (10,170) (9,821) (7,936) (7,256)

Administrative expenses 25 (11,078) (9,609) (6,474) (5,990)

other operating expenses 7 (271) (376) – –

operating profit 11,475 9,695 9,468 8,290

investment gains 28 14 12 133 123

finance costs 29 (1,377) (1,472) (1,350) (1,458)

Profit before tax 10,112 8,235 8,251 6,955

Tax income 30 869 5,222 1,513 5,665

Profit for the year from continuing 
 operations 10,981 13,457 9,764 12,620

discontinued operations:

profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued 
 operations 24 242  (5,448)  (797)  (7,040)

Profit for the year 11,223 8,009 8,967 5,580

earnings per share for the year attributable 
 to shareholders arising from:

 – continuing operations ¤0.366 ¤0.449

 – discontinued operations ¤0.008 (¤0.182)

32 ¤0.374 ¤0.267

inCome 
StatementS
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Year ended 31 January

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Profit for the year 11,223 8,009 8,967 5,580

other comprehensive income:

items that will not be reclassified  
 to profit or loss:

movement in deferred tax due to change  
 in tax rates on immovable property 21 1,070 – 399 –

items that may be subsequently reclassified  
 to profit or loss:

cash flow hedges net of deferred tax 18 (69) (548) (69) (548)

other comprehensive income for the year 1,001 (548) 330 (548)

total comprehensive income for the year 12,224 7,461 9,297 5,032

Total comprehensive income attributable to  
 equity shareholders arising from:

– continuing operations 11,982 12,909 10,094 12,072

– discontinued operations 242 (5,448) (797) (7,040)

12,224 7,461 9,297 5,032

The notes on pages 58 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GroUp Share 
capital

hedging 
reserve

Revaluation 
and other 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

total 
equity

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

balance at 1 february 2014 9,000 (302) 58,421 28,155 95,274

Comprehensive income

profit for the year – – – 8,009 8,009

other comprehensive income:

cash flow hedges net of deferred tax 18 – (548) – – (548)

net transfers of fair value
 movements on investment
 property, net of deferred tax 16 – – (5,200) 5,200 –

total comprehensive income – (548) (5,200) 13,209 7,461

transactions with owners

dividends relating to 2014 and 2015 15 – – – (2,500) (2,500)

balance at 31 January 2015 9,000 (850) 53,221 38,864 100,235

balance at 1 february 2015 9,000 (850) 53,221 38,864 100,235

Comprehensive income

profit for the year – – – 11,223 11,223

other comprehensive income:

cash flow hedges net of deferred tax 18 – (69) – – (69)

movement in deferred tax due to  
 changes in tax rates on immovable  
 property 21 – – 2,847 (1,777) 1,070

net transfers of fair value  
 movements on investment  
 property, net of deferred tax 16 – – (1,963) 1,963 –

total comprehensive income – (69) 884 11,409 12,224

transactions with owners

dividends relating to 2015 and 2016 15 – – – (3,000) (3,000)

balance at 31 January 2016 9,000 (919) 54,105 47,273 109,459

StatementS oF 
ChanGeS in eQUity
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Company Share 
capital

hedging 
reserve

Revaluation 
and other 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

total 
equity

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

balance at 1 february 2014 9,000 (302) 53,161 25,963 87,822

Comprehensive income

profit for the year – – – 5,580 5,580

other comprehensive income:

cash flow hedges net of deferred tax 18 – (548) – – (548)

net transfers of fair value  
 movements on investment  
 property, net of deferred tax 16 – – (7,040) 7,040 –

total comprehensive income – (548) (7,040) 12,620 5,032

transactions with owners

dividends relating to 2014 and 2015 15 – – – (2,500) (2,500)

balance at 31 January 2015 9,000 (850) 46,121 36,083 90,354

balance at 1 february 2015 9,000 (850) 46,121 36,083 90,354

Comprehensive income

profit for the year – – – 8,967 8,967

other comprehensive income:

cash flow hedges net of deferred tax 18 – (69) – – (69)

movement in deferred tax due to  
 changes in tax rates on immovable  
 property 21 – – 803 (404) 399

net transfers of fair value  
 movements on investment  
 property, net of deferred tax 16 – – (1,963) 1,963 –

total comprehensive income – (69) (1,160) 10,526 9,297

transactions with owners

dividends relating to 2015 and 2016 15 – – – (3,000) (3,000)

balance at 31 January 2016 9,000 (919) 44,961 43,609 96,651

The notes on pages 58 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

56Simonds Farsons Cisk plc FinanCial StatementS continued

StatementS oF ChanGeS in eQuitY continued



Year ended 31 January

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

notes ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Cash flows from operating activities

cash generated from operations 33 18,228 17,761 15,803 13,778

interest received 14 12 133 123

interest paid (1,377) (1,472) (1,350) (1,458)

income tax paid (412) (657) (412) –

net cash generated from operating activities 16,453 15,644 14,174 12,443

Cash flows from investing activities

purchase of property, plant and equipment (15,267) (6,847) (13,017) (5,837)

Advance payments for property, 
 plant and equipment (1,623) – (1,623) –

Additions to investment property (1,626) (556) (1,626) (556)

Additions to intangible assets (243) (44) – –

proceeds from disposal of property,  
 plant and equipment 30 33 – 10

proceeds from disposal of investment property 250 – – –

institutional grants received 457 435 457 435

net cash used in investing activities (18,022) (6,979) (15,809) (5,948)

Cash flows from financing activities

proceeds from non-current borrowings 3,038 – 3,038 –

payments of current and non-current borrowings (1,751) (1,751) (1,751) (1,751)

dividends paid (3,000) (2,500) (3,000) (2,500)

net cash used in financing activities (1,713) (4,251) (1,713) (4,251)

net movement in cash and cash equivalents (3,282) 4,414 (3,348) 2,244

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,448 34 2,863 619

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13 1,166 4,448 (485) 2,863

The notes on pages 58 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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noteS to the 
ConSolidated 
FinanCial StatementS

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1.1 basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of simonds farsons cisk plc and its 
subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international financial 
Reporting standards (ifRss) as adopted by the eu and the requirements of the maltese companies Act, 1995. 
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of the non-
current asset categories of property, plant and equipment and investment property and except as disclosed in 
the accounting policies below. unless otherwise stated, all financial information presented has been rounded to 
the nearest thousand.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with ifRss as adopted by the eu requires the use of certain 
accounting estimates. it also requires directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the group’s 
accounting policies (see note 3 – critical accounting estimates and judgements).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2016

in 2016, the group adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are 
mandatory for the group’s accounting period beginning on 1 february 2015. The adoption of these revisions to 
the requirements of ifRss as adopted by the eu did not result in substantial changes to the group’s  
accounting policies.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the date 
of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods 
beginning after 1 february 2015. The group has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements of ifRss 
as adopted by the eu and the company’s directors are of the opinion that, with the exception of the below 
pronouncements, there are no requirements that will have a possible significant impact on the group’s financial 
statements in the period of initial application.

ifRs 9, ‘financial instruments’, addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets, and replaces the 
multiple classification and measurement models in iAs 39 with a single model that has only two classification 
categories: amortised cost and fair value. classification under ifRs 9 is driven by the reporting entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets. ifRs 9, 
‘financial instruments’, also addresses the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, and retains the 
majority of the requirements in iAs 39 in relation to financial liabilities. subject to adoption by the eu, ifRs 9 is 
effective for financial periods beginning on, or after, 1 january 2018. The group is considering the implications of 
the standard and its impact on the group’s financial results and position, together with the timing of its adoption 
taking cognisance of the endorsement process by the european commission, and will also consider the impact 
of the remaining phases of ifRs 9 when completed.

ifRs 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for 
reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a 
customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the benefits 
from the good or service. The standard replaces iAs 18 ‘Revenue’ and iAs 11 ‘construction contracts’ and related 
interpretations. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 january 2017 and earlier 
application is permitted. The group is presently assessing the impact of ifRs 15.

1.2 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
group controls another entity. subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group 
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share 
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. if this is less than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss 
(note 1.8).

inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the group.

1. Summary 
of significant 
accounting 
policies
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A listing of the subsidiaries is set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

(b) Jointly-controlled entities

jointly-controlled entities are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. in the consolidated financial 
statements, investments in jointly-controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognised at cost. The group’s investment in jointly-controlled entities includes goodwill 
identified on acquisition net of any accumulated impairment loss. see note 1.8 for the impairment of non-financial 
assets including goodwill.

The group’s share of its jointly-controlled entities’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income 
statement, and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
when the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made payments on behalf of the jointly-controlled entity.

unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent 
of the group’s interest in the jointly-controlled entities. unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of jointly-controlled entities 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

if the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share 
of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where 
appropriate.

dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised in profit or loss.

A listing of the group’s jointly-controlled entities is set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

1.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in euro which is the company’s functional currency and the group’s presentation policy.

(b) Transactions and balances

foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statements within ‘cost of sales’ and 
‘administrative expenses’.

The group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts in order to manage its exposure to fluctuations in 
foreign currency rates on specific transactions (see note 1.28).

(c) Group companies

on consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities 
and of borrowings are taken to other comprehensive income. on disposal of a foreign entity, such translation 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

1.4 Group holdings of land and buildings

The group owns extensive holdings of land and buildings which are accounted for under two categories 
depending on their current or intended use:

(a) properties used as business, manufacturing and operational premises by the group including factories, 
warehouses, offices and commercial buildings, are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and  
are included under non-current assets. surplus properties previously employed in the group’s operations,  
are classified as non-current assets held for sale;

(b) other properties held by the group for capital appreciation and for long-term rental purposes are accounted 
for as investment property and are also included under non-current assets held for sale.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at historical cost. land and buildings are subsequently 
shown at fair value based on periodic valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation 
for buildings. valuations are carried out on a regular basis, but at least every five years, unless the directors 
consider it appropriate to have an earlier revaluation, such that the carrying amount of property does not 
differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting period. Any 
accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment 
is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. historical cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of 
acquiring or constructing a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of its cost. borrowing costs are capitalised 
while acquisition or construction is actively underway. capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset 
is substantially complete, and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 

59 Annual Report 2015/16

noteS to the ConSolidated FinanCial StatementS continued
1.2 ConSolidation continued



repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other comprehensive 
income and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. decreases that offset previous increases of 
the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against the revaluation reserve directly 
in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss. each year the difference between depreciation based 
on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset’s 
original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

freehold land, land held on perpetual emphyteusis and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. 
leased properties are depreciated over the period of the lease. depreciation on other assets is calculated using 
the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated 
useful lives, as follows:

•	Buildings:	0.67%	–	2.00%
•	Plant,	machinery	and	equipment:	5.00%	–	33.33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see note 1.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with carrying amount and are 
recognised in profit or loss. when revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve 
relating to the assets are transferred to retained earnings.

1.6 investment property

property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and is not occupied by the 
group, is classified as investment property. investment property comprises freehold and leasehold land and 
buildings, and land and buildings held under long-term operating leases.

investment property is measured initially at its historical cost, including related transaction costs and borrowing 
costs. historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. borrowing 
costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a qualifying investment property are 
capitalised as part of its cost. borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or construction is actively 
underway. capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is substantially complete and is suspended 
if the development of the asset is suspended. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value 
representing open market value determined annually. fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, 
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. if the information is 
not available, the group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or 
discounted cash flow projections.

These valuations are reviewed annually. investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as 
investment property or for which the market has become less active continues to be measured at fair value. fair 
value measurement on property under construction is only applied if the fair value is considered to be reliably 
measurable. The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases 
and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current market conditions. The fair value 
also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. when part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised.

The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or enhance the 
property and does not reflect the related future benefits from this future expenditure other than those a rational 
market participant would take into account when determining the value of the property.

changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. investment properties are derecognised either when they 
have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

if an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment. its fair 
value at the date of the reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes. when the group 
decides to dispose of an investment property without development, the group continues to treat the property as 
an investment property. similarly, if the group begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued 
future use as investment property, it remains an investment property during the redevelopment.

if an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed, any 
difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is treated 
in the same way as a revaluation under iAs 16. Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the property is 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss; with any remaining increase 
recognised in other comprehensive income, directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease 
in the carrying amount of the property is initially charged to other comprehensive income against any previously 
recognised revaluation surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to profit or loss. upon the disposal of such 
investment property, any surplus previously recorded in equity is transferred to retained earnings; the transfer is 
not made through profit or loss.

where an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by commencement of development with 
a view to sale, the property is transferred to inventories. A property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting as 
inventories is its fair value at the date of change in use.

1.7 intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/jointly-controlled entity or business concern at the date of 
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries/business concerns is included in intangible assets. Goodwill 
on acquisitions of jointly-controlled entities is included in investments in jointly-controlled entities. Goodwill 
is recognised separately within intangible assets, and is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
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Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to 
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segment. A cash-generating unit to 
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the 
unit may be impaired by comparing the carrying amount of the unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable 
amount of the unit. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

franchise and agency rights are initially shown at historical cost. franchise and agency rights have a definite 
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of franchise and agency rights over their estimated useful lives (5 to 10 years).

1.8 impairment of non-financial assets

Assets (including goodwill) that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. for 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

1.9 investments in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities

in the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are 
accounted for by the cost method of accounting, that is, at cost less impairment. provisions are recorded where, 
in the opinion of the directors, there is an impairment in value. where there has been an impairment in the value 
of an investment, it is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified. The company 
gathers objective evidence that an investment is impaired using the same process disclosed in note 1.10.3. The 
results of associates are reflected in the company’s separate financial statements only to the extent of dividends 
receivable. on disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

loans for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future are, in substance, an 
extension of the company's investment in that subsidiary. loans to subsidiaries for which settlement is planned 
are classified as loans and receivables in accordance with the requirements of iAs 39.

1.10 Financial assets

1.10.1 Classification

The group classifies its financial assets, (other than investments in jointly-controlled entities and, only in the 
company’s case, investments in subsidiaries) in the loans and receivables category. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. management determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise when the group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor 
with no intention of trading the asset. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The group’s loans 
and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement  
of financial position (notes 1.12 and 1.14).

1.10.2 Recognition and measurement

The group recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on 
settlement date, which is the date on which an asset is delivered to or by the company. Any change in fair value 
for the asset to be received is recognised between the trade date and settlement date in respect of assets which 
are carried at fair value in accordance with the measurement rules applicable to the respective financial assets.

loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is the initial measurement amount adjusted 
for the amortisation of any difference between the initial and maturity amounts using the effective interest 
method. financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership  
or has not retained control of the asset.

1.10.3 Impairment

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
The group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists. The criteria that the group uses to 
determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

•	significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	obligor;
•	a	breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments;
•	it	becomes	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation.

for financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying 
amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. if, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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1.11 inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. inventories of raw materials are determined 
using the first-in first-out method and those of spare parts on a weighted average basis. The cost of raw 
materials comprises the cost of direct materials and includes transport and handling charges. The cost of finished 
goods comprises raw materials, other direct costs and related production overheads. net realisable value is the 
estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and selling expenses. 
in the case of bottles, cases and kegs, the net realisable value is arrived at after providing for an annual charge 
calculated to write down the costs over their estimated useful lives.

1.12 trade and other receivables

Trade receivables comprise amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. if collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. if not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment (note 1.10.3). The carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
when a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade and other receivables. 
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against profit or loss.

1.13 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statements 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income. in this case the 
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

deferred taxation is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. however, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred tax is not accounted for 
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. deferred tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability  
is settled.

under this method the group is required to make a provision for deferred income taxes on the revaluation and 
fair valuation of certain non-current assets and derivative contracts. such deferred tax is charged or credited 
directly to the revaluation reserve and/or the unrealised fair value gains reserve and hedging reserve. deferred 
income tax on the difference between the actual depreciation on the property and the equivalent depreciation 
based on the historical cost of the property is realised through the income statements.

deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the unutilised investment tax credits, tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances can 
be utilised.

deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred 
income tax where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there  
is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statements of financial position at face value. in the statements of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and bank overdrafts. 
bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statements of financial position.

1.15 discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or that is classified 
as held for sale, and represents a separate major line of business or a geographical area of operation or is a 
subsidiary acquired or created exclusively with a view to resell.

non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction, not through continuing use. These assets may be a component of an entity, a disposal 
group or an individual non-current asset. non-current assets (classified as assets held for sale) are stated at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through a continuing use.

1.16 Share capital

ordinary shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or for the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of acquisition as part of the purchase 
consideration.

dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the group’s financial statements 
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s shareholders.

1.17 borrowings

borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. 
borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction 
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.
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1.18 Provisions

provisions (including restructuring costs) are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. 
Restructuring provisions principally comprise termination benefits.

provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

1.19 termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the group before the normal retirement 
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group 
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. benefits falling due more than twelve 
months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

1.20 trade and other payables

Trade payables comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). if not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

1.21 Financial liabilities

The group recognises a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. The group’s financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities which 
are not at fair value through profit or loss (classified as ‘other liabilities’) under iAs 39. financial liabilities not at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, 
net of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. 
These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The group derecognises a financial liability from 
its statements of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, 
cancelled or expired.

1.22 offsetting financial instruments

financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax or other sales 
taxes, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the group. Revenue is recognised as 
follows:

(a) Sales of goods – wholesale

sales of goods are recognised when an entity has delivered products to the customer, the customer has 
accepted the products and collectibility of the related trade and other receivables is reasonably assured. branded 
beers, beverages and food products are often sold with a right of return. Accumulated experience is used to 
estimate and provide for such returns at the time of sale.

(b) Sales of goods – retail

sales of goods are recognised when an entity sells a product to the customer. Retail sales are usually in cash or 
by credit card. The recorded revenue includes credit card fees payable for the transaction. it is the group’s policy 
to sell its products to the end customer with a right of return. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and 
provide for such returns at the time of sale.

(c) Sales of services

sales of services are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to 
completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the 
total services to be provided.

(d) Property related income

Rentals and short-term lets receivable on immovable property are recognised in the period when the property is 
occupied.

(e) Finance income

finance income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. when a receivable 
is impaired, the company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the 
discount as finance income.

(f) Dividend income

dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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1.24 operating leases

Where a group company is a lessee

leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. payments made under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Where a group company is a lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the statement of financial 
position. These assets are fair valued annually on a basis consistent with similarly owned investment property.

1.25 borrowing costs

borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing qualifying property, plant 
and equipment or investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. borrowing costs are capitalised while 
acquisition or construction is actively underway, during the period of time that is required to complete and 
prepare the asset for its intended use. capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is substantially 
complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed. borrowing costs are recognised for all interest-bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the 
effective interest method. interest costs include the effect of amortising any difference between initial net 
proceeds and redemption value in respect of the group’s interest-bearing borrowings.

1.26 earnings per share

The group presents basic earnings per share (eps) data for its ordinary shares. basic eps is calculated by 
dividing the consolidated profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the period.

1.27 Segment reporting

The group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is provided to 
the board of directors, which is the group’s chief operating decision maker in accordance with the requirements 
of ifRs 8 ‘operating segments’.

An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the group’s 
other components, and for which discrete financial information is available. An operating segment’s operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the board of directors to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and to assess its performance executing the function of the chief operating decision maker.

1.28 derivative financial instruments

derivative financial instruments, including forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swap agreements  
are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The group 
designates certain derivatives as either: (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm 
commitment (fair value hedge); or (2) hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the 
reporting date. The fair value of interest rate swaps is mainly based on the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows.

All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. The 
full fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity 
of the hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

on the date a derivative contract is entered into, the group designates certain derivatives as a hedge of a future 
cash flow attributable to a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction (cash flow hedge). hedge 
accounting is used for derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met. in accordance with the 
requirements of iAs 39, the criteria for a derivative instrument to be accounted for as a cash flow hedge include:

•	formal	documentation	of	the	hedging	instrument,	hedged	item,	hedging	objective,	strategy	and	relationship	
is prepared before hedge accounting is applied;

•	the	hedge	is	documented	showing	that	it	is	expected	to	be	highly	effective	in	offsetting	the	risk	in	the	
hedged item throughout the reporting period; and

•	the	hedge	is	effective	on	an	ongoing	basis.

Accordingly, the group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various 
hedge transactions. The group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items.

(a) Fair value hedge

changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
statements of comprehensive income, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability 
that are attributable to the hedged risk.

(b) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
the income statements.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statements in the periods when the hedged item 
will affect profit or loss. however, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a 
non-financial asset or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and 
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
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2. Financial risk 
management

when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when 
the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statements. when a forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to 
the income statements.

1.29 institutional grants

Grants that compensate the group for expenses incurred are recognised in the income statement on a systematic 
basis in the same reporting periods in which the expenses are incurred. This compensation is disclosed in the 
same reporting line as the related expense.

institutional grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially as deferred income when there  
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the group will comply with the conditions attaching  
to them.

Grants that compensate the group for the cost of an asset are recognised in the income statement on a 
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset to match the depreciation charge. capital grants are recorded as 
deferred income and released to the income statement over the estimated useful life of the related assets.

2.1 Financial risk factors

The group’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk 
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the group’s financial performance. from time to time, the group enters into foreign exchange contracts 
and more recently into interest rate swap agreements to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and 
preceding financial years. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (group treasury) 
under policies approved by the board of directors.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
which are denominated in a currency that is not the respective group entity’s functional currency. The 
group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the group’s purchases, a part of which are 
denominated in the us dollar and the Gb pound. management does not consider foreign exchange risk 
attributable to recognised liabilities arising from purchase transactions to be significant since balances are 
settled within very short periods in accordance with the negotiated credit terms.

The group’s and company’s loans and receivables, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings are 
denominated in euro.

on specific transactions the group uses forward contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates. for financial reporting purposes, the group designates contracts as fair value 
hedges or cash flow hedges, as appropriate.

The group hedges certain major contracted purchases that are made in foreign currency and are payable in 
a future period by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts covering the cash flow exposure arising 
from these transactions. Accordingly, the group meets the criteria for hedge accounting in accordance with 
the requirements of iAs 39.

At 31 january 2016, the settlement dates on open contracts ranged between one and ten months. These 
derivatives contracts had a notional amount of ¤3,150,000. if as at year end, the above noted currencies had 
weakened or strengthened against the euro by 5% with all other variables held constant, equity would have 
been ¤131,000 and ¤118,000 respectively lower or higher, mainly as a result of fair value movements on these 
derivative financial instruments. such losses or gains in respect of a weakening or a strengthening of the 
above noted currencies against the euro would mitigate, to the extent of an amount of currency purchases 
equivalent to the derivative contracts’ notional amount as disclosed above, the equivalent gains or losses that 
would arise upon the actual purchases.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. The group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. borrowings issued at variable rates, comprising 
bank borrowings (refer to note 20), expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group’s borrowings 
are subject to an interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the bank’s base Rate. management 
monitors the level of floating rate borrowings as a measure of cash flow risk taken on. interest rates on these 
financial instruments are linked with the central intervention Rate issued by the european central bank. 
borrowings issued at fixed rates, consist primarily of bank loans and unsecured bonds which are carried at 
amortised cost (refer to note 20), and therefore do not expose the group to cash flow and fair value interest 
rate risk.

significant exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises in respect of interest payments relating to 
borrowings, in particular to loans amounting to ¤7.5 million (2015: ¤5.5 million) that are subject to interest 
at floating rates linked to euribor. The group entered into interest-rate swap agreements, which provided a 
cash flow hedging relationship in respect of variability of future floating interest payments. These agreements 
cover interest payments on the total amount of these borrowings. Accordingly, this hedging instrument has 
been designated as cash flow hedges on the interest rate risk, that is, volatility in floating interest amounts. 
up to the reporting date, the group did not have any hedging arrangements with respect to the exposure of 
interest rate risk on other interest-bearing liabilities.

based on the above, management considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined interest rate 
shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial.
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(b) Credit risk

credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, loans and receivables, as well as credit 
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The carrying amount of 
financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period was:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Carrying amounts

Trade and other receivables (note 12) 19,766 16,979 17,730 16,624

cash and cash equivalents (note 13) 2,445 4,505 692 2,870

22,211 21,484 18,422 19,494

Group companies bank only with local financial institutions with high quality standing or rating. The group’s 
operations are principally carried out in malta and most of the group’s revenues originate from clients based 
in malta. The group has no concentration of credit risk that could materially impact on the sustainability of its 
operations. however, in common with similar business concerns, the failure of specific large customers could 
have a material impact on the group’s results.

The group assesses the credit quality of its customers taking into account financial position, past experience 
and other factors. it has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are effected to customers 
with an appropriate credit history in the case of credit sales. sales to retail customers are made in cash or via 
major credit cards. The group monitors the performance of these financial assets on a regular basis to identify 
incurred collection losses which are inherent in the group’s receivables taking into account historical experience 
in collection of accounts receivable.

standard credit terms are in place for individual clients, however, wherever possible, new corporate customers 
are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the group’s standard payment and service delivery terms 
and conditions are offered. The group’s review includes external creditworthiness databases when available. The 
group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables. This allowance represents specific provisions against individual exposures.

The group’s receivables, which are not impaired financial assets, are principally in respect of transactions with 
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. management does not expect any material losses from 
non-performance by these customers.

Impairment losses

Trade and other receivables

At group level, impairment provisions of ¤2,938,000 (2015: ¤2,618,000) were in existence at the year end in 
respect of trade receivables that were overdue and that were not expected to be recovered. other overdue 
trade receivables that were not impaired amounted to ¤1,780,000 (2015: ¤1,211,000). These unsecured overdue 
amounts consisted of ¤1,698,000 (2015: ¤1,042,000) that were less than three months overdue and ¤82,000 
(2015: ¤169,000) that were greater than three months overdue.

At company level, impairment provisions of ¤1,387,000 (2015: ¤1,128,000) were in existence at the year end in 
respect of trade receivables that were overdue and that were not expected to be recovered. other overdue 
trade receivables that were not impaired amounted to ¤810,000 (2015: ¤1,022,000). These unsecured overdue 
amounts consisted of ¤810,000 (2015: ¤1,022,000) that were less than three months overdue.

Other receivables

As at year end, impairment provisions of ¤1,778,000 (2015: ¤1,620,000) for the group and the company were 
in existence at year end in respect of trade loans (disclosed under other receivables) that were overdue and that 
were not expected to be recovered. other overdue trade loans that were not impaired amounted to ¤1,559,000 
(2015: ¤1,901,000) for the group and the company. The group and company hold security of ¤2,026,000 
(2015: ¤1,886,000) against trade loans of an equivalent amount.

The movement in the provision for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year 
was as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

balance as at 1 february 4,238 3,746 2,737 2,312

movement in provision for impairment 477 492 428 425

balance as at 31 january 4,715 4,238 3,165 2,737

The group’s policy is to recognise impairment losses on all trade receivables exceeding one year, while it 
recognises impairment losses on other receivables which exceed the contract credit period and that are not 
expected to be recovered. The allowance accounts in respect of trade receivables are used to record impairment 
losses unless the group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at this point the amounts 
considered irrecoverable are written off against trade receivables directly.

The group holds collateral as security for a considerable portion of its assets classified as loans and receivables. 
The group and company’s receivables also include advances to subsidiaries within the group and jointly-
controlled entities on which no credit risk is considered to arise.

Derivative financial instruments

credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments lies in the insolvency of the contracting party and as a 
consequence, in the amount of the sum, on balance, of positive market values vis-à-vis the respective derivative 
counterparties. derivative transactions are concluded with first rate local banking institutions.
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(c) Liquidity risk

The group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities, which comprise principally borrowings and trade and other payables (refer to notes 20 and 23). 
prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and committed credit lines to ensure  
the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the group’s obligations.

management monitors liquidity risk by means of cash flow forecasts on the basis of expected cash flows over 
a twelve month period and ensures that adequate financing facilities are in place for the coming year. The 
carrying amounts of the group’s assets and liabilities are analysed into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date in the respective notes to 
the financial statements.

The table below analyses the group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. balances due within twelve months equal their carrying 
amounts, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Carrying amount
Contractual cash 

flows
Within 

one year
One to 

five years
Over 

five years

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP

31 January 2016

borrowings 26,833 28,055 3,499 24,556 –

Trade and other payables 19,902 19,902 19,902 – –

46,735 47,957 23,401 24,556 –

31 January 2015

borrowings 24,290 25,789 2,299 22,771 719

Trade and other payables 16,526 16,526 16,526 – –

40,816 42,315 18,825 22,771 719

ComPanY

31 January 2016

borrowings 26,731 27,955 3,399 24,556 –

Trade and other payables 12,169 12,169 12,169 – –

38,900 40,124 15,568 24,556 –

31 January 2015

borrowings 24,240 25,739 2,249 22,771 719

Trade and other payables 10,099 10,099 10,099 – –

34,339 35,838 12,348 22,771 719

       

The table below analyses the group’s principal derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Within 
one year

One to 
five years

Over 
five years Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP and ComPanY

31 January 2016

interest rate derivative

– interest-rate swap 303 883 243 1,429

31 January 2015

interest rate derivative

– interest-rate swap 237 953 317 1,507

       

The group’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis consist principally of forward foreign exchange 
contracts (note 19). The table below analyses the group’s derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a 
gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to 
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Within 
one year

One to 
five years

Over 
five years Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP and ComPanY

31 January 2016

foreign exchange derivatives

– outflows (2,537) – – (2,537)

– inflows 2,492 – – 2,492

(45) – – (45)
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2.2 Capital risk management 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided 
by total capital.

The Group and company consider total capital to be equity and total borrowings.

Total capital is measured by reference to the amounts reflected in the financial statements where the group’s 
property, plant and equipment and investment property are stated at revalued amounts and fair value amounts 
respectively.

Total borrowings include unsecured bonds issued by the company. The gearing ratios at 31 january 2016 and 
2015 were as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Total borrowings (note 20) 26,833 24,290 26,731 24,240

less cash at hand and in bank (2,445) (4,505) (692) (2,870)

24,388 19,785 26,039 21,370

Total equity 109,459 100,235 96,651 90,354

total equity and net borrowings 133,847 120,020 122,690 111,724

Gearing 18.22% 16.48% 21.22% 19.13%

2.3 Fair values 

Fair values of instruments not carried at fair value
At 31 january 2016 and 2015 the carrying amounts of cash at bank, trade and other receivables, trade and other 
payables and current borrowings reflected in the financial statements are reasonable estimates of fair value 
in view of the nature of these instruments or the relatively short period of time between the origination of the 
instruments and their expected realisation. The fair value of amounts owed by subsidiaries and jointly-controlled 
entities which are current or repayable on demand is equivalent to their carrying amount.

The fair value of non-current financial instruments for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial 
instruments. The fair value of the group’s non-current floating interest rate bank borrowings at the end of the 
reporting period is not significantly different from the carrying amounts.

Fair values estimation in relation to financial instruments carried at fair value
The group’s financial instruments which are carried at fair value include derivative financial instruments 
designated as hedging instruments (note 19).

The group is required to disclose fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value:

•	Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	(level	1).

•	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	either	directly,	that	is,	 
as prices, or indirectly, that is, derived from prices (level 2).

•	Inputs	for	the	asset	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data,	that	is,	unobservable	inputs	(level	3).

2016
level 2

2015
level 2

¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP and ComPanY

liabilities

interest rate derivative

– interest-rate swap 1,386 1,307

foreign exchange derivatives

– currency forwards 27 –

1,413 1,307

estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

in the opinion of the company directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of 
preparing these financial statements, except as disclosed in notes 5, 6, 7 and 21 are not difficult, subjective or 
complex to a degree which would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of iAs 1.

3. Critical accounting 
estimates and 
judgements
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4. Segment 
information

management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the board of directors 
that are used to make strategic decisions.

The board of directors considers the group’s business mainly from a productive and commercial perspective as 
geographically operations are carried out, predominantly, on the local market.

The group does not have any particular major customer, as it largely derives revenue from a significant number 
of consumers availing of its products and services. Accordingly, the group has not identified any relevant 
disclosures in respect of reliance on major customers.

The group’s productive and commercial operations are segregated primarily into brewing, production and sale of 
branded beers and beverages, the importation, wholesale and retail of food and beverages, including wines and 
spirits, the operation of franchised food retailing establishments and property management.

during financial year ended 31january 2015, the group’s board decided to re-organise the internal structure 
within group, and to ‘spin-off’ its property interests from the other business activities into a separate and 
distinct public company. The completion date for this transaction is expected within the next 12 to 18 months. 
consequently the results and related assets and liabilities of the segment are classified and discontinued and 
held for sale.

The board of directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on operating results adjusted 
for centralised costs. interest income and expenditure are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity 
is driven by the central treasury function, which manages the cash position of the group. since the board of 
directors reviews adjusted operating results, the results of discontinued operations are not included in the 
measure of adjusted operating results.

sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length. The revenue from external parties reported to the board 
of directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in the income statements.

The amounts provided to the board of directors with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent 
with that of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the 
physical location of the asset. segment assets consist primarily of land and buildings, investment property, plant, 
machinery and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, loans, trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. Taxation is not considered to be segment assets but rather is managed by the treasury function.

The amounts provided to the board of directors with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the 
segment. segment liabilities comprise trade and other payables and exclude tax and borrowings. The group’s 
interest-bearing liabilities and taxation are not considered to be segment liabilities but rather are managed by the 
treasury function.

Brewing, production 
& sale of branded 

beers & beverages

Importation, 
wholesale & retail of 

food & beverages, 
including wines & 

spirits

Operation of 
franchised 

food retailing 
establishments

Property 
management Group

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

2016

Revenue 48,070 30,938 12,397 – 91,405

less: inter-segmental sales (1,831) (4,656) – – (6,487)

46,239 26,282 12,397 – (84,918)

segment results 9,016 1,778 681 – 11,475

net finance costs (1,363)

Profit before tax 10,112

Tax income 869

Profit from continuing operations 10,981

Profit from discontinuing 
 operations – – – 242 242

Profit for the year 11,223

segment assets 100,527 15,320 10,824 – 126,671

non-current assets held for sale – – – 31,558 31,558

unallocated assets 4,344

total assets 162,573

segment liabilities 14,911 5,639 2,157 – 22,707

liabilities directly attributable to 
 non-current assets held for sale – – – 2,884 2,884

unallocated liabilities 27,523

total liabilities 53,114

Additions to non-current assets 13,771 273 1,695 – 15,739

depreciation 4,656 263 526 92 5,537

Amortisation 35 – 22 – 57

impairment on intangible assets – 271 – – 271

impairment provision for trade 
 receivables 421 56 – – 477
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Brewing, production 
& sale of branded 

beers & beverages

Importation, wholesale 
& retail of food & 

beverages, including 
wines & spirits

Operation of 
franchised 

food retailing 
establishments

Property 
management Group

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

2015

Revenue 45,500 28,655 10,984 – 85,139

less: inter-segmental sales (1,633) (4,300) – – (5,933)

43,867 24,355 10,984 – 79,206

segment results 7,669 1,345 681 – 9,695

net finance costs (1,460)

Profit before tax 8,235

Tax income 5,222

Profit from continuing operations 13,457

loss from discontinued operations – – – (5,448) (5,448)

Profit for the year 8,009

segment assets 90,981 12,543 10,154 – 113,678

non-current assets held for sale 33,041 33,041

unallocated assets 2,039

total assets 148,758

segment liabilities 13,313 3,199 2,326 – 18,838

liabilities directly attributable to  
 non-current assets held for sale – – – 4,893 4,893

unallocated liabilities 24,792

total liabilities 48,523

Additions to non-current assets 5,956 219 649 23 6,847

depreciation 4,766 289 530 87 5,672

Amortisation 35 – 28 – 63

impairment on intangible asset – 376 – – 376

impairment provision for trade  
 receivables 405 87 – – 492

Land & buildings
Assets in course of 

construction
Plant, machinery 

& equipment Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP

at 1 February 2014

cost or valuation 55,573 181 111,674 167,428

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (4,495) – (89,346) (93,841)

net book amount 51,078 181 22,328 73,587

Year ended 31 January 2015

opening net book amount 51,078 181 22,328 73,587

Additions 244 3,314 3,289 6,847

disposals – – (85) (85)

depreciation (863) – (4,809) (5,672)

depreciation released on disposals – – 65 65

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale – – (23) (23)

Transfer from investment property (note 6) 5,451 – – 5,451

closing net book amount 55,910 3,495 20,765 80,170

at 31 January 2015

cost or valuation 61,268 3,495 114,855 179,618

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (5,358) – (94,090) (99,448)

net book amount 55,910 3,495 20,765 80,170

Year ended 31 January 2016

opening net book amount 55,910 3,495 20,765 80,170

Additions 498 11,017 4,224 15,739

disposals (651) – (777) (1,428)

depreciation (1,061) – (4,476) (5,537)

depreciation released on disposals 281 – 758 1,039

closing net book amount 54,977 14,512 20,494 89,983

at 31 January 2016

cost or valuation 61,115 14,512 118,302 193,929

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,138) – (97,808) (103,946)

net book amount 54,977 14,512 20,494 89,983

5. property, plant 
and equipment
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Land & buildings
Assets in course of 

construction
Plant, machinery 

& equipment Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

ComPanY

at 1 February 2014

cost or valuation 40,954 181 90,603 131,738

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (2,686) – (70,033) (72,719)

net book amount  38,268 181 20,570 59,019

Year ended 31 January 2015

opening net book amount 38,268 181 20,570 59,019

Additions 25 3,314 2,498 5,837

disposals  – – (35) (35)

depreciation  (650) – (4,014) (4,664)

depreciation released on disposals – – 35 35

Transfer from investment property (note 6) 5,451 – – 5,451

closing net book amount 43,094 3,495 19,054 65,643

at 31 January 2015

cost or valuation 46,430 3,495 93,066 142,991

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (3,336) – (74,012) (77,348)

net book amount  43,094 3,495 19,054 65,643

Year ended 31 January 2016

opening net book amount 43,094 3,495 19,054 65,643

Additions  – 11,017 2,472 13,489

disposals – – (22) (22)

depreciation  (859) – (3,696) (4,555)

depreciation released on disposals – – 22 22

closing net book amount  42,235 14,512 17,830 74,577

at 31 January 2016 

cost or valuation 46,430 14,512 95,516 156,458

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (4,195) – (77,686) (81,881)

net book amount 42,235 14,512 17,830 74,577

Assets in course of construction mainly relate to works carried out during financial years 2015 and 2016 on the 
development of the new beer packaging hall situated within the group’s manufacturing and distribution complex 
in mriehel.

As at 31 january 2015, assets transferred from investment property amounting to ¤5,451,000 relate to property 
which the company will be using for operational purposes in the foreseeable future (note 6).

bank borrowings are secured by the group’s and company’s property, plant and equipment (note 20).

other receivables (note 12) include payments on account amounting to ¤1,623,000 which were advanced to 
contracted suppliers of operational plant relating to the new beer packaging facility. As at year end, ownership of 
this operational plant was not transferred to the company.

Fair value of property

on 31 january 2008, the directors approved revaluations of the owned property by the group and classified 
it under property, plant and equipment, after assessing the valuations made by duly appointed independent 
chartered architectural firms. These valuations were determined on the basis of open market values after 
considering the intrinsic value of the property and net potential returns. The directors have confirmed these 
values as at 31 january 2016 with the exception of the valuation related to the brewery façade as noted 
hereunder.

during financial year ended 31 january 2015, the board confirmed its vision to carve out the property segment 
and eventually spin-off this segment as a separate business. it was the board’s opinion that, following the 
approval of the concept and design for the initial phases of the development of the farsons brewery park 
project, it was the appropriate time to disclose this segment as a discontinued operation and, in this respect,  
the assets relating to the property management segment were presented as held for sale.

The group is required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy within 
which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety (level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy have been defined in note 2 to the financial statements.

following the developments noted above in 2015, the group’s land and buildings within property, plant and 
equipment, comprises properties as described in note 1.4(a), including the company’s brewery and adjacent 
property. The group’s assets held for sale include investment property mainly comprises commercial properties 
leased out to third parties, property held for capital appreciation and property earmarked for extended 
commercial development (refer to note 24).

All the recurring property fair value measurements at 31 january 2016 use significant unobservable inputs and are 
accordingly categorised within level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy. The group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers 
between different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended 31 january 2016.
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A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of land and buildings for recurring fair value 
measurements categorised within level 3 of the value hierarchy, is reflected in the table above and in the table in 
note 6. The only movement in land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment reflects additions, 
disposals and depreciation charge for the year ended 31 january 2016, while the only movement in investment 
property reflects additions other than transfers between property, plant and equipment and investment property 
and transfers to non-current assets held for sale and fair value movements which were recognised in profit or loss 
(if any).

Valuation processes

The valuations of the properties are performed regularly on the basis of valuation reports prepared by 
independent and qualified valuers. These reports are based on both:

•	information	provided	by	the	group	which	is	derived	from	the	group’s	financial	systems	and	is	subject	to	the	
group’s overall control environment; and

•	assumptions	and	valuation	models	used	by	the	valuers	–	the	assumptions	are	typically	market	related.	These	
are based on professional judgement and market observation.

The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions and the valuation models used by the 
valuers, are reviewed by the chief financial officer (cfo). This includes a review of fair value movements over the 
period. when the cfo considers that the valuation report is appropriate, the valuation report is recommended to 
the board of directors. The board of directors considers the valuation report as part of its overall responsibilities.

Valuation techniques 

The external valuations of the level 3 property have been performed using a variety of methods, including an 
adjusted sales comparison approach, capitalised rentals and the replacement cost approach (in the case of 
certain buildings). in 2015, the discounted projected cash flows approach was adopted for parts of the façade 
property. each property was valued using the method considered by the external valuers to be the most 
appropriate valuation method for that type of property; the method, together with the fair value measurements, 
was approved by the board of directors as described above.

in view of the limited number of sales of similar properties in the local market, the valuations have been 
performed using unobservable inputs. The significant input to the sales comparison approach is generally a 
sales price per square metre related to transactions in comparable properties located in proximity to the group’s 
property, with significant adjustments for differences in the size, age, exact location and condition  
of the property.

in the case of the capitalised rentals approach, the significant unobservable inputs include a rental rate per 
square metre (also in respect of comparable properties as described in the case of the sales comparison 
approach), a capitalisation rate (applied at 7%), and, if applicable, development or refurbishment costs which 
must be incurred before the property can earn the potential rental cash flows. meanwhile, development costs  
are also the significant unobservable input in the case of the replacement cost approach.

in the case of certain areas of the façade property, the discounted projected cash flows approach based on 
the highest and best use basis was adopted taking into consideration certain mepA restrictions. The significant 
unobservable inputs include annualised net cash inflows per square metre (driven by premium market rentable 
rates) from the commission property, a capitalisation rate (applied at 6.5%), and development costs (based 
on high quality finishes). The resulting gross development return has been split between development return 
(assumed at 13% [2015: 11%]) with the residual value attributed to the company land value. This change in 
valuation parameters resulted in a re-assessment of the fair value of the related property resulting in a fair value 
downward adjustment of ¤2,182,000.

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

description by class based 
on highest and best use Fair value Valuation technique

Significant
unobservable input

Range of 
unobservable inputs 

as at 31 January 2016 ¤’000 ¤

current use as manufacturing 
or related premises 42,177

sales comparison 
approach

sales price per 
square metre 582

Replacement cost 
approach

development cost 
per square metre 175 – 466

capitalised rentals 
approach

Rental rate per 
square metre 100 – 225

discounted 
cashflow 
approach

Annual net 
cashflows per 
square metre 164 – 242

current use as commercial 
premises 17,799

capitalised rentals 
approach

Rental rate per 
square metre 61 – 349

developable as extended-
commercial premises 7,694

discounted 
cashflow 
approach

Annual net 
cashflows per 
square metre 100 – 225

developable land for mixed 
use/commercial use 18,714

sales comparison 
approach

net sales price per 
square metre 577 – 1,035
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6. investment 
property

description by class based 
on highest and best use Fair value Valuation technique

Significant
unobservable input

Range of 
unobservable inputs 

as at 31 January 2015 ¤’000 ¤

current use as manufacturing  
 or related premises 43,191

sales comparison 
approach

sales price per 
square metre 582

Replacement cost 
approach

development cost 
per square metre 175 – 466

capitalised rentals 
approach

Rental rate per 
square metre 100 – 225

discounted 
cashflow 
approach

Annual net 
cashflows per 
square metre 164 – 242

current use as commercial  
 premises 17,799

capitalised rentals 
approach

Rental rate per 
square metre 61 – 349

developable as extended- 
 commercial premises 8,250

discounted 
cashflow 
approach

Annual net 
cashflows per 
square metre 100 – 225

developable land for mixed  
 use/commercial use 18,964

sales comparison 
approach

net sales price per 
square metre 577 – 1,035

in the case of the sales comparison approach and the capitalised rentals approach, the higher the sales price  
per square metre or the rental rate per square metre, the higher the resultant fair valuation. conversely, the lower 
the required development cost per square metre or the rental capitalisation rate, the higher the resultant  
fair valuation.

in the case of the replacement cost approach, the higher the development cost per square metre, the higher the 
resultant fair valuation.

in respect of the discounted cashflow approach, the higher the annualized net cash inflows, and growth rate,  
the higher the fair value. conversely, the lower the discount rate, the estimated development costs, and 
capitalisation rate used in calculating the annualized net cash inflows, the higher the fair value.

The highest and best use of properties which are developable as extended-commercial premises, as well as 
developable land for mixed use/commercial use differs from their current use. These assets mainly comprise 
properties which are currently partly used by the group or which are currently vacant, and which would require 
development or refurbishment in order to access the maximum potential cash flows that may be generated from 
the properties’ highest and best use. The group is expected to vacate those properties which it currently partly 
uses.

As at 31 january 2016, the carrying amount of land and buildings would have been ¤22,351,000 (2015: 
¤23,284,000) had these assets been included in the financial statements at historical cost less depreciation.

The charge for depreciation and impairment charges as disclosed in note 25 are included in the income 
statements as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

cost of sales 3,000 3,420 2,329 2,740

selling and distribution costs 1,755 1,462 1,518 1,230

Administration expenses 782 790 708 694

5,537 5,672 4,555 4,664

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Year ended 31 January 

opening net book amount – 45,189 – 32,926

Additions – 556 – 556

fair value adjustments (note 24) – (8,000) – (8,000)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 24) – (32,294) – (20,031)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 5) – (5,451) – (5,451)

closing net book amount – – – –

investment property is valued annually and approved by the directors on the basis of a professional valuation 
prepared by independent property valuers having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and 
experience in the location and category of the property being valued. fair values are determined on the basis 
of open market value taking cognisance of the specific location of the properties, their size and development 
potential and the availability of similar properties in the area and, whenever possible, having regard to recent 
market transactions for similar properties in the same location.
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during financial year ended 31 january 2015, the group decided to spin off its non-core operational property 
interests and to develop further its masterplan for the farsons business park. consequently, the fair value of 
related asset was re-measured resulting in a fair value downward movement of ¤8,000,000 and the group’s 
investment property has been substantially transferred to assets held for sale (note 24).

bank borrowings are secured by the group’s and company’s investment property (note 20). investment 
property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties and land held for capital 
appreciation. The following amounts have been recognised in the income statements:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Rental income – 290 – –

direct operating expenses – (185) – –

Goodwill
Franchise &

agency rights Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP

at 1 February 2014

cost 1,058 4,698 5,756

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (128) (4,550) (4,678)

net book amount 930 148 1,078

Year ended 31 January 2015

opening net book amount 930 148 1,078

Additions – 44 44

Amortisation – (28) (28)

impairment change (376) – (376)

closing net book amount 554 164 718

at 31 January 2015

cost 1,058 4,742 5,800

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (504) (4,578) (5,082)

net book amount 554 164 718

Year ended 31 January 2016

opening net book amount 554 164 718

Additions – 243 243

Amortisation – (32) (32)

impairment charge (271) – (271)

closing net book amount 283 375 658

at 31 January 2016

cost 1,058 4,985 6,043

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (775) (4,610) (5,385)

net book amount 283 375 658

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in note 1.7. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

The carrying amount of food importation business of the group within the importation wholesale and retail 
of food and beverages segment, has been reduced to its recoverable amount through the recognition of an 
impairment charge against goodwill amounting to ¤271,000 in 2016 and ¤376,000 in 2015. This loss has been 
disclosed within the other operating expenses in the income statement.

Amortisation of ¤32,000 (2015: ¤28,000) is included in cost of sales within the income statements.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the group’s cash-generating units identified according to business segment. A segment-
level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

brewing, production and sale of branded beers & beverages 192 192

importation, wholesale and retail of food & beverages 91 362

net book amount 283 554

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on value in use calculations, and is 
assessed annually. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial information prepared by 
management covering up to a fifteen year period using the estimated growth rate of 2% (2015: 2.5%). cash flows 
beyond the six-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate of 1.5% (2015: 2%) per annum. These 
estimates principally assume net margins of 28% and are principally discounted using a rate of 7.07%.

management estimates net margins based on past performance and its expectations for market development. 
The discount rates are post-tax and reflect specific risks to the relevant segments.

7. intangible 
assets
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10. loans and 
receivables

Company

 2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

Year ended 31 January

opening and closing net book amount 13,706 13,706

at 31 January

cost 17,787 17,787

impairment provision for investments (4,081) (4,081)

net book amount 13,706 13,706

The principal subsidiaries at 31 january 2016 all of which are unlisted, are disclosed in note 39 to these financial 
statements.

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Year ended 31 January

opening net book amount – 12 – 2

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 24) – (12) – (2)

closing net book amount – – – –

The principal jointly-controlled entities at 31 january 2016 all of which are unlisted, are disclosed in note 39 to 
these financial statements.

The principal investment in jointly-controlled entities related to property management and was consequently 
classified within the group’s non-current assets held for sale in 2015 (note 24).

summarised financial information of the principal jointly-controlled entities as at 31 january is as follows:

Assets Liabilities Losses

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

at 31 January 2015 1,132 1,050 (3)

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Year ended 31 January

opening net book amount – 104 – –

Repayments – (48) – –

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (note 24) – (56) – –

closing net book amount – – – –

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Raw materials and consumables 2,923 2,506 2,688 2,187

finished goods and goods for resale 6,985 6,617 1,922 2,339

containers and other stocks 2,426 1,994 2,229 1,899

12,334 11,117 6,839 6,425

The amount of inventory write-downs recognised in the income statements categories is as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

cost of sales 829 654 670 478

selling, distribution and administrative expenses 51 162 51 162

880 816 721 640

8. investments in 
subsidiaries

9. investments in 
jointly-controlled 
entities

11. inventories
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Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current 

other receivables 2,757 1,392 2,757 1,392

Current 

Trade receivables 11,858 11,515 6,108 6,343

Amounts due from subsidiaries – – 4,758 5,578

indirect taxation 74 69 – –

other receivables 5,077 4,003 4,107 3,311

prepayments and accrued income 1,486 1,044 1,703 497

18,495 16,631 16,676 15,729

total trade and other receivables 21,252 18,023 19,433 17,121

Trade and other receivables are stated net of impairment provision as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

trade and other receivables 4,715 4,238 3,165 2,737

The impairment provision for trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 25 and is included under selling and 
distribution costs in the income statements.

Amounts due to the company by subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. included in these 
balances are year-end amounts of ¤5,386,000 (2015: ¤6,377,000) which are subject to an average interest rate 
of 4.75% (2015: 4.75%). other balances within amounts due from subsidiaries are interest free.

The group’s and company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses relating to trade and 
other receivables are disclosed in note 2. The other classes within receivables do not contain impaired assets.

for the purposes of the statements of cash flows, the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period comprise the following:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

cash at bank and in hand 2,445 4,505 692 2,870

bank overdrafts (1,279) (57) (1,177) (7)

1,166 4,448 (485) 2,863

Company

 2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

authorised:

30,000,000 ordinary shares of ¤0.30 each 9,000 9,000

21,000,000 preference shares of ¤1.00 each 21,000 21,000

30,000 30,000

issued and fully paid:

30,000,000 ordinary shares of ¤0.30 each 9,000 9,000

9,000 9,000

12. trade and 
other receivables

13. Cash and cash 
equivalents

14. Share capital
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16. revaluation 
reserve

Company

 2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

interim dividend 1,000 1,000

final dividend 2,000 1,500

Total net dividend 3,000 2,500

euro per share (net) ¤0.10 ¤0.08

The final dividend of ¤2,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 january 2015 was announced to the ordinary 
shareholders on 25 june 2015. These final dividends were paid out of tax exempt profits.

A net interim dividend of ¤1,000,000 (¤0.0333 per share) in respect of the year ended 31 january 2016 
was announced on 30 september 2015, and paid to the ordinary shareholders on 20 october 2015. At the 
forthcoming Annual General meeting, a final net dividend of ¤2,200,000 (¤0.0733 per share) in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 january 2016 is to be proposed.

These financial statements do not reflect the final dividend for 2016 of ¤2,200,000 which will be accounted for in 
shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year ending 31 january 2017.

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current assets

At beginning of year, before deferred tax 46,009 54,009 38,677 46,677

fair value movements (2,182) (8,000) (2,182) (8,000)

43,827 46,009 36,495 38,677

deferred taxation (note 21) (5,285) (8,351) (3,800) (4,822)

at 31 January 38,542 37,658 32,695 33,855

The revaluation reserve was created upon the revaluation of the group’s and company’s properties classified 
within non-current assets. Related deferred tax was debited to this reserve. The revaluation reserve is a non-
distributable reserve.

Share premium
Other unrealised 

reserve
Incentives and 

benefits reserve
Capital redemption 

reserve Total

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP

At 1 february 2015 and  
 1 february 2016 2,078 3,507 2,515 7,463 15,563

ComPanY

At 1 february 2015 and  
 1 february 2016 2,078 210 2,515 7,463 12,266

The incentives and benefits reserve represents profits set aside for re-investment in terms of sections 6(1) 
and 36(2) of the business promotion Act. Amounts included in this reserve can only be distributed by way of 
capitalisation of profits.

The capital redemption reserve represents amounts set aside as a result of the redemption of cumulative 
redeemable preference shares. in accordance with the maltese companies Act, 1995, this reserve is only available 
for distribution to ordinary shareholders by way of a bonus share issue.

15. dividends paid

17. other reserves
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The changes in fair values of hedging instruments qualifying as cash flow hedges are recorded in a separate 
category of equity in the hedging reserve as shown below:

Currency derivatives Interest rate swap Total

GRouP and ComPanY ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

at 31 January 2014

Gross amounts of losses 20 444 464

deferred taxes (note 21) (7) (155) (162)

13 289 302

movement for the year ended 31 January 2015

(Gain)/losses from changes in fair value (20) 1,016 996

deferred taxes (note 21) 7 (356) (349)

(13) 660 647

Transferred to statement of comprehensive income (note 29) – (153) (153)

deferred taxes (note 21) – 54 54

– (99) (99)

at 31 January 2015

Gross amounts of losses – 1,307 1,307

deferred taxes (note 21) – (457) (457)

– 850 850

movement for the year ended 31 January 2016

(Gains)/losses from changes in fair value (13) 273 260

deferred taxes (note 21) 5 (96) (91)

(8) 177 169

Transferred to statement of comprehensive

income (note 29) 40 (194) (154)

deferred taxes (note 21) (14) 68 54

26 (126) (100)

at 31 January 2016

Gross amounts of losses 27 1,386 1,413

deferred taxes (note 21) (9) (485) (494)

18 901 919

The net fair value losses recognised in equity at 31 january 2016 on the interest-rate swap contracts will be 
transferred from the hedging reserve to the income statements during the remaining term of the contracts up 
to 2024. As at the reporting period date, these contracts are designated as hedging anticipated variable interest 
payments which will also accrue over the term of the derivative contract.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments held for hedging at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

Group and 
Company

FaiR valueS liabilitieS ¤’000

at 31 January 2015

interest rate derivative 

– interest-rate swap 1,307

total recognised derivative liabilities 1,307

at 31 January 2016

interest rate derivative 

– interest-rate swap 1,386

foreign exchange derivatives 

– currency forwards 27

total recognised derivative liabilities 1,413

The above are included in the statements of financial position under the following classifications:

 2016 2015

deRivativeS FinanCial liabilitieS ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current 1,083 1,007

current 330 300

1,413 1,307

19. derivative 
financial 
instruments

18. hedging 
reserve
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20. borrowings

(a) Interest rate derivatives

during the financial year ended 31 january 2015, the company entered into a receive floating, pay fixed interest 
rate swap arrangement with a notional amount of ¤12.4 million matching the principal amount of an equal value 
specific bank loan. As at year end, the company had effected actual drawdowns of ¤3.04 million. under the 
interest rate swap arrangement, the company will at three monthly intervals exchange fixed interest amounts 
payable determined at the fixed interest rate of 1.82% with variable interest amounts receivable based on the 3 
month floating euribor rate. The derivative expires in 2024, thus matching with the terms of loan.

during the financial year ended 31 january 2011, the company entered into a receive floating, pay fixed interest 
rate swap arrangement with a notional amount of ¤10 million matching the principal amount of an equal value 
specific loan. As at year end, the remaining unpaid portion of this loan amounted to ¤4.5 million. under the 
interest rate swap arrangement, the company will at three monthly intervals exchange fixed interest amounts 
payable determined at the fixed interest rate of 2.74% with variable interest amounts receivable based on the 3 
month floating euribor rate. The derivative expires in 2020, thus matching with the terms of loan.

The company has designated these derivative contracts as hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge with the 
hedged risk being the company’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising on the variable interest amounts 
payable with respect to these loans. fair value changes arising on these instruments are recognised in other 
comprehensive income directly in the cash flow hedging reserve.

Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in equity (note 18) on the interest rate swap contracts as of 31 
january 2016 will be released to the income statements over the period until maturity of the contracts.

(b) Foreign exchange derivatives

Currency forwards

The currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31 january 2016 had a notional value of usd1,300,000 
and Gbp 1,600,000 with an average contracted rate of ¤1:usd1.1054 and Gbp0.7416. The related fair value of 
outstanding forward contracts as at 31 january 2016 amounted to a net liability of ¤27,366.

These contracts mature within a period of one to twelve months from the end of the reporting period and within 
the same period of time the forecast transactions designated as items being hedged by this contract were 
expected to affect the income statements.

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current

6.0% bonds 2017 – 2020 14,831 14,796 14,831 14,796

bank loans  8,976 7,687 8,976 7,687

23,807 22,483 23,807 22,483

Current

bank overdrafts 1,279 57 1,177 7

bank loans 1,747 1,750 1,747 1,750

3,026 1,807 2,924 1,757

total borrowings 26,833 24,290 26,731 24,240

The bonds are disclosed at the value of the proceeds less the net book amount of the issue costs as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Face value of bonds 

6.0% bonds 2017 – 2020 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

issue costs 384 384 384 384

Accumulated amortisation (215) (180) (215) (180)

net book amount 169 204 169 204

amortised cost 14,831 14,796 14,831 14,796

following the board decision taken on 1 April 2010, the company issued an aggregate principal amount of ¤15 
million bonds (2017-2020), having a nominal value of ¤100 each, bearing interest at the rate of 6.0% per annum. 
These bonds are unsecured pursuant and subject to the terms and conditions in the prospectus dated 10 may 
2010. The quoted market price as at 31 january 2016 for the 6.0% bonds 2017–2020 was ¤105.00 (2015: ¤105.51).

As contemplated in the prospectus dated 10 may 2010, the group’s bank issued a bank guarantee for an amount 
of ¤1,500,000 (2015: ¤1,000,000) in fulfilment of the company’s reserve account obligations as per clause 26.9 of 
the above noted prospectus.

The group’s and the company’s banking facilities as at 31 january 2016 and 2015 amounted to ¤50,000,000 and 
¤51,753,000 for the group, and ¤42,100,000 and ¤43,853,000 for the company respectively.

The bank overdrafts and loans are secured by special and general hypothecs over the group’s assets and pledges 
over the group’s merchandise. 
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interest rate exposure:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

At floating rates 8,817 5,557 8,715 5,507

At fixed rates 18,016 18,733 18,016 18,733

Total borrowings 26,833 24,290 26,731 24,240

borrowings at floating rates which interest rate is computed using a margin over the three month euribor rate, 
are hedged through interest rate swap agreements (note 19).

The weighted average effective interest rates at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

% % % %

bank overdrafts 4.60 4.67 4.60 5.25

bank loans 3.06 3.53 3.06 3.54

bonds 2017 – 2020 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the group’s and the company’s loans and 
borrowings. for more information about the group’s and the company’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity 
risk, see note 2.

The movement in the deferred tax account is as follows: 

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

At beginning of year 2,407 11,116 (1,300) 5,620

credited to income statements (note 30) (3,405) (8,414) (2,136) (6,625)

credited directly in equity (1,070) – (399) –

net tax effect of re-measurement of derivatives (37) (295) (37) (295)

at end of year (2,105) 2,407 (3,872) (1,300)

disclosed as follows:

continuing operations (4,210) (1,693) (5,153) (3,205)

discontinued operations 2,105 4,100 1,281 1,905

at end of year (2,105) 2,407 (3,872) (1,300)

deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted by the end of the reporting period. The principal tax rate used is 35% 
(2015: 35%), with the exception of deferred taxation on the fair valuation of non-depreciable property which is 
computed on the basis applicable to disposals of immovable property, that is, tax effect of 10% (2015: 12%) of the 
transfer value. 

changes to the taxation rules on capital gains arising on transfer of immovable property were announced by the 
minister for finance during the 2015 budget speech. with effect from 1 january 2015, the final tax on transfers of 
immovable property was reduced to 10% of the transfer value for property acquired before 1 january 2004. The 
net impact of the application of the changed tax regime on the deferred tax liability attributable to fair valuation 
of property amounted to ¤2,847,000 for the group and ¤804,000 for the company. Releases amounting 
to ¤1,777,000 for the group and ¤405,000 for the company were credited to the income statement under 
discontinued operations while releases amounting to ¤1,070,000 for the group and ¤399,000 for the company 
were credited to the revaluation reserve within equity.

The manufacturing arm of the group has been availing itself of investment aid under the various investment 
tax credit schemes that were applicable until 30 june 2014. in view of the fact that the investment tax credit 
schemes have become more restrictive in respect of large undertakings, the group has reassessed the extent 
to which the related deferred tax may be utilised in the foreseeable future. This assessment resulted in a further 
recognition of deferred tax credits on investment aid of ¤1,080,000 (2015: ¤5,274,000). This amount was 
credited to the income statement under continuing operations.

This assessment has been based on projected taxable profits. if the actual chargeable income differed by 10% 
from management’s estimates, the group and company would need to increase/decrease the deferred tax asset 
by ¤1,000,000. 

21. deferred 
taxation
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22. other 
provisions

The movements in the deferred taxation elements and the balance at 31 january represent:

Fixed assets
Investment  
tax credits

Fair value 
(gain)/loss Net tax losses

Revaluation 
surplus

Provisions 
on assets Total

liabilities/(assets) ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

GRouP

At 1 february 2014 4,359 (3,674) 345 94 11,151 (1,159) 11,116

income statements (151) (5,274) – – (2,800) (189) (8,414)

equity – – (295) – – – (295)

At 31 january 2015 4,208 (8,948) 50 94 8,351 (1,348) 2,407

At 1 february 2015 4,208 (8,948) 50 94 8,351 (1,348) 2,407

income statements (148) (1,080) – (18) (1,996) (163) (3,405)

equity – – (37) – (1,070) - (1,107)

at 31 January 2016 4,060 (10,028) 13 76 5,285 (1,511) (2,105)

ComPanY

At 1 february 2014 4,773 (3,674) (134) 93 5,782 (1,220) 5,620

income statements (225) (5,274) – – (960) (166) (6,625)

equity – – (295) – – – (295)

At 31 january 2015 4,548 (8,948) (429) 93 4,822 (1,386) (1,300)

At 1 february 2015 4,548 (8,948) (429) 93 4,822 (1,386) (1,300)

income statements (287) (1,080) – – (623) (146) (2,136)

equity – – (37) – (399) – (436)

at 31 January 2016 4,261 (10,028) (466) 93 3,800 (1,532) (3,872)

deferred taxation is principally composed of deferred tax assets and liabilities which are to be recovered and 
settled after more than twelve months.

At 31 january 2016, the group and the company had unrecognised deferred tax assets consisting of unutilised tax 
credits arising from:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

unutilised investment tax credits 2,065 5,467 2,065 5,467

unabsorbed tax losses 18 18 – –

unabsorbed capital allowances 631 631 – –

2,714 6,116 2,065 5,467

whereas tax losses have no expiry date, unabsorbed capital allowances and unutilised investment tax credits are 
forfeited upon cessation of trade. 

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

termination benefit provisions ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

At 1 february 101 166 101 166

charged to profit and loss 46 113 46 113

utilised during the year (93) (178) (93) (178)

at 31 January 54 101 54 101

The company has offered early retirement in exchange for a termination benefit to selected employees. This has 
been communicated to the selected employees, together with the amounts payable. The staff restructuring and 
termination costs charged for 2016 total ¤46,000 while for 2015 total ¤113,000 (note 25). it is anticipated that 
¤29,000 (2015: ¤47,000) of the provision will be paid during the financial year ending 31 january 2017.
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Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

non-current

capital and other payables 1,184 1,593 1,184 1,593

Current

Trade payables 8,417 5,304 3,308 1,497

capital and other payables 3,244 2,499 2,795 2,045

indirect taxes and social security 1,617 1,997 1,116 1,469

Accruals and deferred income 6,778 6,890 5,105 5,018

20,056 16,690 12,324 10,029

total trade and other creditors 21,240 18,283 13,508 11,622

The group’s and company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is 
disclosed in note 2.

As at 31 january 2016, capital and other payables include institutional grants amounting to ¤1,213,000 (2015: 
¤1,486,000) relating to funds advanced directly by the Government of malta or other institutions to the group, 
co-financing its capital expenditure on the property, plant and equipment. The non-current portion of deferred 
institutional grants amounted to ¤1,049,000 (2015: ¤1,323,000). such funds are treated as deferred income and 
are credited to profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful lives of the assets. The impact of these grants 
on the current year’s results are disclosed in note 25.

The assets relating to the property management segment have been presented as held for sale following the 
approval of the group’s management in the third quarter of 2015 to re-organise the corporate structure of the 
farsons Group, and to ‘spin-off’ (pro-rata to then existing shareholders) the group’s property interests (other 
than those properties which will continue to be used in the core beverage business) from the other business 
activities into a separate and distinct public company. This decision follows the 17 september 2014 board decision 
to approve a concept and design budget for the initial phases of the development relating to a master plan for 
the farsons business park project. The completion date for this transaction is expected within the next 12 to 18 
months. The group believes that this extended period is necessary to satisfy certain conditions required for the 
completion of this transaction.

Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

property, plant and equipment (note 5) 17 23 – –

investment property (note 6) 31,407 32,294 19,475 20,031

investments in jointly-controlled entities (note 9) 12 12 3 3

loans and receivables (note 10) 56 56 – –

Trade and other receivables 66 656 – 525

non-current assets held for sale 31,558 33,041 19,478 20,559

Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

provisions for other liabilities and charges (note 21) 2,105 4,100 1,281 1,905

Trade and other payables 659 590 239 –

current tax liabilities 120 203 – –

liabilities directly attributable to non-current 
 assets held for sale 2,884 4,893 1,520 1,905

in accordance with ifRs 5, the assets and liabilities held for sale were written down to their fair value less costs 
to sell of ¤1,964,000 (2015: ¤5,200,000) (net of deferred tax). This is a non-recurring fair value which has been 
measured using unobservable inputs, as disclosed in note 5 under fair value of property, and is therefore within 
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

23. trade and 
other payables

24. discontinued 
operations and 
non-current 
assets (and 
related liabilities) 
held for sale
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An analysis of the results of the related discontinued operations, and the results recognised on the  
re-measurement of assets, is as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Revenue 337 297 – –

cost of sales (383) (260) – –

Gross (loss)/profit (46) 37 – –

Administrative expenses (103) (120) – –

investment income – – 1,173 –

share of results of associate (net of tax) 763 – – –

profit/(loss) before tax from discontinuing operations 614 (83) 1,173 –

Tax income/(expense) (note 30) 1,592 (165) (6) –

Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinuing operations 2,206 (248) 1,167 –

loss on the re-measurement of assets held for sale (2,182) (8,000) (2,182) (8,000)

Tax income (note 30) 218 2,800 218 960

loss after tax on the re-measurement  
 of assets held for sale (1,964) (5,200) (1,964) (7,040)

Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinuing operations 242 (5,448) (797) (7,040)

operating cash flows 1,086 (114) 1,524 (27)

investing cash flows (1,376) (578) (1,626) (555)

The share of results of associate mainly comprise gains (net of tax) on the disposal of the underlying investment 
held by this associate.

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 5,537 5,672 4,555 4,664

profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment (note 5) 359 (13) – (10)

employee benefit expense (note 26) 17,067 16,062 9,953 9,657

Termination benefits (note 26) 62 113 62 113

Raw materials, imported goods and consumables 38,444 36,818 10,861 10,684

changes in inventories of finished goods and 
 work in progress (note 11) 368 457 (417) 534

increase in impairment provisions for trade and 
 other receivables (note 12) 477 492 428 425

impairment of trade receivables 8 126 3 25

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7) 32 28 – –

other expenses 11,304 9,780 11,766 9,807

total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs 
 and administrative expenses 73,658 69,515 37,211 35,899

operating profit is stated after crediting deferred institutional grants amounting to ¤177,000 (2015: ¤150,000), 
which are included in ‘cost of sales’.

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

disclosed as:

continuing operations 73,172 69,135 37,211 35,899

discontinued operations 486 380 – –

73,658 69,515 37,211 35,899

Auditor’s fees

fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial periods ended 31 january 2016 and 2015 
relate to the following:

Group

 2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

Annual statutory audit 135 118

other assurance services 14 36

Tax advisory and compliance services 18 10

other non-assurance services 27 35

194 199

25. expenses  
by nature
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Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

wages and salaries 15,828 14,940 10,415 10,050

social security costs 1,186 1,075 763 744

other employee related costs 53 47 53 47

17,067 16,062 11,231 10,841

Recharged to subsidiaries – – (1,278) (1,184)

17,067 16,062 9,953 9,657

Termination benefits 62 113 62 113

17,129 16,175 10,015 9,770

The average number of full time equivalents employed during the year:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

brewing, production and sale of branded beers 
 and beverages 497 495 479 477

importation, wholesale and retail of food 
 and beverages, including wines and spirits 80 76 – –

operation of franchised food retailing establishments 229 205 – –

806 776 479 477

The net exchange differences charged and credited to the income statements include: 

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

foreign exchange differences (62) 4 (73) (2)

fair value gains/(losses) on derivative instruments: 
– foreign exchange forward contracts 40 (9) 40 (9)

(22) (5) 33 (11)

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

interest on loans and receivables 14 12 – 8

interest on amounts owed by subsidiaries – – 124 115

other interest – – 9 –

14 12 133 123

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

interest on bank loans and overdrafts 268 405 223 372

interest on bonds 900 900 900 900

fair value loss on derivative financial instruments 194 153 194 153

other finance costs 15 14 33 33

1,377 1,472 1,350 1,458

during the year ended 31 january 2016, the company was granted net interest subsidy amounting to ¤80,000 
(2015: ¤65,000) from malta enterprise related to approved investment loans of ¤6.2 million (2015: ¤3.9 million).  
A net effective interest rate of 1.2% (2015: 1.5%) was applied, representing the borrowing cost of the loans utilised 
to finance capital projects. This rate is net of the interest rate subsidy provided by malta enterprise.

27. net exchange 
differences

28. Finance 
income

29. Finance costs

26. employee 
benefit expense
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Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

current tax expense 728 557 411 –

deferred tax income (note 21) (3,405) (8,414) (2,136) (6,625)

tax income (2,679) (7,857) (1,725) (6,625)

disclosed as:

continuing operations (869) (5,222) (1,513) (5,665)

discontinued operations (note 24) (1,810) (2,635) (212) (960)

(2,679) (7,857) (1,725) (6,625)

The tax on the group’s and company’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

profit before tax from continuing operations 10,112 8,235 8,251 6,955

loss for the year from the discontinued operations (1,568) (8,083) (1,009) (8,000)

profit/(loss) before tax 8,544 152 7,242 (1,045)

Tax on profit/(loss) at 35% 2,990 53 2,535 (366)

Tax effect of:

benefits available under the business promotion Act,  
 comprising investment tax credits and allowances (941) 1,873 (941) 1,873

unrecognised deferred tax assets (3,402) (10,002) (3,402) (10,002)

differences related to termination benefits 33 32 33 32

over provision in unrecognised and recognised deferred  
 tax related to prior years 88 – – –

impairment on immovable property 545 – 545 1,840

changes in tax rules on immovable property (1,777) – (405) –

non allowable expenses and other differences 52 187 (90) (2)

share of results of associate (267) – – –

Tax income (2,679) (7,857) (1,725) (6,625)

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Amounts paid

fees 192 192 192 192

salaries 58 44 58 44

other emoluments 238 222 238 222

488 458 488 458

Amounts provided for

one time gratuity 125 – 125 –

Total directors remuneration 613 458 613 458

A number of directors availed themselves of an allowance for the use of company cars during the year. The 
estimated value of this benefit has been included within the directors’ emoluments, which also includes other 
allowances.

The board approved the granting of a one time gratuity payment of ¤125,000 to the former vice chairman after 
the completion of 37 years of valid service in the post. This amount will only be paid following its ratification at 
the forthcoming Annual General meeting.

30. tax income

31. directors’ 
emoluments
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earnings per share is based on the profit for the financial year attributable to the shareholders of simonds 
farsons cisk plc divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year and ranking 
for dividend.

Group

 2016 2015

profit from continuing operations attributable to shareholders (¤’000) 10,981 13,457

profit/(loss) from discontinued operations attributable to shareholders (¤’000) 242 (5,448)

profit attributable to shareholders (¤’000) 11,223 8,009

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 30,000 30,000

earnings per share for the year attributable to shareholders arising from:

continuing operations ¤0.366 ¤0.449

discontinued operations ¤0.008 (¤0.182)

¤0.374 ¤0.267

earnings per share from continuing operations decreased from ¤0.449 in 2015 to ¤0.366 in 2016. despite this 
decrease, profit before tax from continuing operations increased from ¤8,235,000 in 2015 to ¤10,112,000 in 2016. 
The decrease in the earnings per share from continuing operations is mainly attributable to a deferred tax credit 
of ¤5,274,000 recognised in 2015 as compared to a similar deferred tax credit of ¤1,080,000 recognised in 2016.

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

operating profit from continuing operations 11,475 9,695 9,468 8,290

operating loss from discontinued operations 614 (83) 1,173 –

operating profit 12,089 9,612 10,641 8,290

Adjustments for:

depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 5,543 5,672 4,555 4,664

profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 359 (13) – (10)

impairment investment property 81 – – –

impairment of intangible assets (note 7) 271 376 – –

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 7) 32 28 – –

Amortisation of bond issue costs (note 20) 35 36 35 36

increase in provision for impairment of trade 
 and other receivables (note 12) 477 492 428 425

provision for termination benefits (note 22) 46 113 46 113

18,933 16,316 15,705 13,518

changes in working capital:

inventories (1,217) 173 (414) 94

Trade and other receivables (1,495) 55 (592) (160)

Trade and other payables 2,007 1,217 1,104 326

Cash generated from operations 18,228 17,761 15,803 13,778

Capital commitments

commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in these financial statements are as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Authorised but not contracted 16,009 24,213 14,533 22,807

contracted but not provided for 12,209 5,586 12,209 5,586

28,218 29,799 26,742 28,393

33. Cash 
generated from 
operations

34. Commitments

32. earnings per 
share
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operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessee

These leases principally relate to property and operational equipment rentals. operating leases expenditure 
recognised during the year have been included within direct operating expenses.

The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

not later than 1 year 601 522 – –

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,460 1,965 – –

later than 5 years and not later than 30 years 1,868 1,559 – –

4,929 4,046 – –

operating lease commitments – where a group company is a lessor

These leases principally relate to property rentals. Related income is recognised under discontinued operations.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

not later than 1 year 350 345 – –

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,262 1,379 – –

later than 5 years 888 1,114 – –

2,500 2,838 – –

At 31 january 2016, the group and the company had contingent liabilities amounting to ¤3,482,000 (2015: 
¤2,379,000) and ¤1,181,000 (2015: ¤578,000) respectively, with regards to guarantees mainly in favour of the 
comptroller of customs issued by the bank on behalf of the group and company in the ordinary course of 
business and capital expenditure.

The following companies (and their respective subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities) are related parties by 
virtue of their shareholding in the company:

Percentage of 
shares held

 2016  2015

farrugia investments limited 26.50 26.50

m.s.m. investments limited 26.50 26.50

sciclunas estates limited 26.32 26.32

The remaining 20.68% (2015: 20.68%) of the shares are widely held. The following transactions were carried out 
with related parties:

Group Company

 2016 2015  2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

income from goods and services 

– sales of goods to subsidiaries – – 1,829 1,589

– sales of goods to related parties 291 143 120 100

– Recharge of costs to subsidiaries – – 1,621 1,219

– Recharge of payroll costs to subsidiaries – – 1,663 1,603

– finance income on loans to subsidiaries – – 124 115

291 143 5,357 4,626

expenditure for goods and services

– purchases of goods from subsidiaries – – 756 768

– purchases of goods and services from related parties 735 735 573 555

– finance costs on loans from subsidiaries – – 34 34

735 735 1,363 1,357

35. Contingent 
liabilities

36. related party 
transactions
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Key management personnel compensation, consisting of directors’ and senior management remuneration, is 
disclosed as follows: 

Group

 2016 2015

¤’000 ¤’000

directors 613 458

senior management 562 504

1,175 962

Amounts due from subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities, in connection with sales and purchases and 

treasury transactions, are disclosed in note 12 to these financial statements. 

simonds farsons cisk plc is a public limited company and is incorporated in malta.

comparative figures disclosed in the main components of these financial statements have been reclassified to 
conform with the current year’s disclosure format for the purpose of fairer presentation.

The principal subsidiaries at 31 january 2016 are shown below: 

Percentage of shares held

Registered office Principal activities  2016 2015

ecopure limited The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

sale and distribution of 
bottled water

100 100

farsons distribution 
services limited 

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

non-operating 100 100

farsons beverage imports 
company limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

importation and 
wholesale of beverages, 
wines and spirits

100 100

farsons italia s.r.l. 
(in liquidation)

via del concilio 17, 20045 
lissone, milan – italy

non-operating 100 100

food chain limited 303, qormi Road, marsa operation of franchised 
food retailing 
establishments

100 100

Galleria management 
limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

non-operating 100 100

mensija catering 
company limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

property leasing 100 100

portanier warehouses 
limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

property leasing 100 100

quintano foods limited 303, qormi Road, marsa importation and 
wholesale of food 
products

100 100

sliema fort company 
limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

property leasing 100 100

Trident developments 
limited

The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

intermediate investment 
management and 
property holding

100 100

fsG company limited The brewery, mdina Road, 
mriehel

investment holding 50 50

malta deposit and Return 
system limited (in 
liquidation)

mizzi house, national 
Road, blata l-bajda

waste management 
activities

56 56

39. Subsidiaries 
and jointly-
controlled entities

37. Statutory 
information

38. Comparative 
information
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Shareholder
inFormation

directors’ interests in the share capital of the company

Ordinary shares held 
as at 31 January 2016

Ordinary shares held 
as at 12 May 2016

louis A. farrugia 22,764 22,764

michael farrugia 5,552 5,552

marina hogg 12,698 12,698

marquis marcus john scicluna marshall 5,857 5,857

marcantonio stagno d'Alcontres 2,858 2,858

vincent curmi (up to 1 july 2015) 6,067 6,067

directors' interests listed above are inclusive of shares held in the name of the relative spouse and minor children 
as applicable.

mr marcantonio stagno d'Alcontres has a beneficial interest in m.s.m. investments limited. besides having a 
beneficial interest represented by 1 share in farrugia investments limited, mr louis A. farrugia has a beneficial 
interest in 25% of the shares in farrugia holdings limited which holds 42,916 shares in simonds farsons cisk 
plc. mr michael farrugia has a beneficial interest in 42,916 ordinary shares registered in the name of farrugia 
holdings limited. marquis marcus john scicluna marshall and baroness christiane Ramsay pergola have a 
beneficial interest in sciclunas estates limited. mr vincent curmi has a beneficial interest in a further 5,250 
ordinary shares registered in the name of the estate of marchese john scicluna. There has been no movement in 
the above stated shareholdings during the period from 31 january 2016 to 12 may 2016. 

Shareholders holding 5% or more of the equity share capital as at 12 may 2016

ordinary shares

Number of shares Percentage holding

m.s.m. investments limited 7,948,862 26.50

farrugia investments limited 7,948,862 26.50

sciclunas estates limited 7,896,164 26.32

Shareholding details

As at 12 may 2016, the company’s issued share capital was held by the following shareholders:

Number of 
shareholders

ordinary shares of ¤0.30 each 1,830

The holders of the ordinary shares have equal voting rights.

number of shareholders as at 12 may 2016

Number of 
shareholders Number of shares Percentage holding

ordinary shares of ¤0.30 each

up to 500 shares 612 141,361 0.47%

501 – 1,000 354 254,848 0.85%

1,001 – 5,000 656 1,470,011 4.90%

more than 5,000 208 28,133,780 93.78%

1,830 30,000,000 100.00%

antoinette Caruana

Company Secretary

The brewery, mdina Road, mrieh-el bKR 3000, malta

Telephone: (+356) 2381 4172
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Five year SUmmariSed 
GroUp reSUltS

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000 ¤’000

Revenue 85,255 79,503 78,629 77,180 70,851

operating costs (73,929) (69,891) (70,235) (69,204) (64,425)

operating profit 11,326 9,612 8,394 7,976 6,426

changes in fair value of 
investment property

(2,182) (8,000)  – – –

share of results of associate 763 –  – – –

net finance costs (1,363) (1,460) (1,542) (1,495) (1,346)

Profit/(loss) before taxation  
arising from:

– continuing operations
 

10,112
 

8,235
 

6,852
 

6,481
 

5,080

– discontinued operations (1,568) (8,083) – – –

Tax 2,679 7,857 (527) (512) (358)

Profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders

11,223 8,009 6,325 5,969 4,722

net dividends paid on ordinary 
shares

3,000 2,500 3,100 2,100 2,000

shareholders’ funds 109,459 100,235 95,274 91,925 88,186

borrowings 26,833 24,290 27,077 29,703 32,988

total capital employed 136,292 124,525 122,351 121,628 121,174

fixed Assets 90,641 80,888 119,854 120,271 117,556

non-current Assets 6,967 3,085 1,739 2,270 2,108

current assets 33,407 32,597 28,942 28,990 28,209

Assets held for sale 31,558 33,041 – – –

liabilities (excluding borrowings) (26,281) (25,086) (28,184) (29,903) (26,699)

total assets less liabilities 136,292 124,525 122,351 121,628 121,174

shares in issue during the 
financial year:

 – ordinary shares ’000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000

number of ordinary 
shareholders

 1,830  1,809  1,796 1,790  1,781

earnings per ordinary share 
(reference note 32)

¤0.374 ¤0.267 ¤0.211 ¤0.199 ¤0.157

Return on average capital 
employed

percentage 8.7 7.8 6.9 6.6 5.4

dividend cover times 3.74 3.20 2.04 2.84 2.36

dividends per ordinary share 
(net of tax)

¤0.100 ¤0.083 ¤0.103 ¤0.070 ¤0.067

net asset value per ordinary 
share

¤3.65 ¤3.34 ¤3.18 ¤3.06 ¤2.94

Gearing percentage 18.22 16.48 21.38 24.09 26.88

Comparative figures have been changed to conform with this year’s presentation of the financial statements.

ordinary shares are equivalent to the weighted average number of shares in issue during the financial year.

Return on average capital employed is calculated by dividing operating profit by the average of the opening and 
closing total capital employed for the relevant year. 

dividend cover is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders by the total net 
dividends paid during the year.

net asset value per ordinary share is calculated by dividing shareholders’ funds attributable to the ordinary 
shareholders by the number of ordinary shares in issue at the end of the year.

Gearing is calculated by dividing net borrowings by the sum of total equity and net borrowings.
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